
 

Agenda Descriptions/Public Comments on Agenda Items 
The Agenda descriptions are intended to give notice to members of the public of a general summary of items of business to be transacted or discussed. 
Members from the public wishing to address the Committee will be recognized by the Chair at the time the Agenda item is to be considered. A speaker’s 
comments shall be limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
Any person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order to participate in this meeting should contact the OCTA at 
(714) 560-5611, no less than two (2) business days prior to this meeting to enable OCTA to make reasonable arrangements to assure accessibility to this 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 

Citizens Advisory Committee 
550 S. Main Street, Orange CA, Room 07 
October 17, 2017 │12:00 p.m. – 2:00 p.m. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Welcome 
 

2. Presentation and Discussion Items  
A. OC Transit Vision: Draft Report (25 min.) 

Gary Hewitt, Section Manager, Transit and Non-Motorized Planning 
Steve Boland, Nelson Nygaard 
 

B. Measure M2 Sales Tax Forecast (15 minutes) 
Sean Murdock, Director, Finance and Administration 
 

C. Measure M Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis (25 min.) 
Tamara Warren, Measure M Program Manager 
 

D. FY 17-18 Bus Service Improvement Plan Update (10 min.) 
Gary Hewitt, Section Manager, Transit and Non-Motorized Planning 
 

3. OCTA Staff Updates (5 minutes each) 
A. Technology & Innovation Ad Hoc Committee Report – Dan Kalmick, CAC Vice-Chair 

 
B. Bicycle/Pedestrian Subcommittee Report – Brian Cox, BPS Chair 

 
C. Government Relations – Lance Larson, Executive Director, External Affairs 

 
D. Staff Liaison – Alice Rogan, Director, Marketing and Public Outreach 

 
4. Public Comments* 

 
5. Chair / Vice-Chair Remarks 

 
6. Committee Member Comments 

 
7. Adjournment 

The next meeting will be held on January 16, 2018 



 
 
 

Citizens Advisory Committee 
Meeting Notes  
July 18, 2017 

12:00 p.m. to 2:00 p.m. 
550 S. Main Street, Orange, Calif. 

Conference Room 07 
 

Members Present 
 

Paul Adams, Fountain Valley Planning Commission 

Vince Buck, Cal State Fullerton 

Min Chai, Irvine Resident  

Brian Cox, Orange County Bicycle Coalition 

Barry Duffin, Orange County Wheelmen 

David Emerson, Los Alamitos Traffic Commission 

Merlin “Bud” Henry, North Tustin Advisory Committee 
Dan Kalmick, Huntington Beach Planning Commission  

Stephanie Klopfenstein, GG Neighborhood Assn/Cncl 

Steve Kozak, Tustin Planning Commission 

Jessica Lomakin, Tustin Resident 

Theodore Luckham, Anaheim Resident 

Austin Lumbard, Tustin Planning Commission 

Derek McGregor, Trabuco Canyon Advisory Comm. 

Michael McNally, UC Irvine 

Frank Murphy, Orange Rotary 

Margaret Novak, WTS/Ladera Ranch Maint. Corp. 
Sheldon Pines, Laguna Niguel Chamber of Commerce 

Roy Shahbazian, Bus Rider, Transit Advocate of OC 

John Taylor, Rotary Club of San Juan Capistrano  
Dianne Thompson, Huntington Beach Chamber 

Jeff Thompson, Tustin Planning Commission and BIA  
 

Greg Winterbottom, OCTA Board Member 

 
Members Absent 

 
Hamid Bahadori, AAA of Southern California 

Kara Darnell, Cal State Fullerton 

Janine Heft, Laguna Hills Resident/Cncl 
Luis Mier, Fountain Valley Resident 
 

Mark Paredes, Garden Grove Planning Commission  
Mike Posey, Huntington Beach Resident/Cncl 

Andrew Ramirez, Santa Ana Resident  
Laurel Reimer, Urban Planner 
 

 
 

 1. Welcome 
Chairman Roy Shahbazian welcomed everyone to the Orange County Transportation 
Authority (OCTA) Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC) meeting at 2:17p.   
 

2. Chair/Vice Chair Elections 
Alice Rogan said Roy Shahbazian has expressed interest in the position of CAC 
Chair and Dan Kalmick expressed interest in the position of Vice Chair. Alice asked if 
any other committee members would like to be considered for the positions. 
 
A motion was made by Derek McGregor, seconded by Dianne Thompson, and carried 
unanimously to elect Roy Shahbazian as the Chair and Dan Kalmick as Vice Chair of 
the Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC).  
 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 2 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

3. Presentation and Discussion Items 
A. Overview of SB 1 – The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 

Kurt Brotcke gave an overview of SB 1 – The Road Repair and Accountability Act 
of 2017. 
 
Dan Kalmick asked about the proposed recall of SB 1.  Kurt Brotcke said the first 
year of funding would be potentially protected against the recall.  If the recall 
moves forward funding could be potentially cut off in November 2018. 
 
Dan Kalmick asked what the gas tax would have been if it had been increased 
incrementally over the past 21 years.  Kurt Brotcke said he does not have the 
specific number, but this increase makes up for a lot of lost time. 
 
John Taylor asked if the SB 1 funding for Orange County would be equitable.  Kurt 
Brotcke said most of the programs are competitive.  He said the formula programs 
will work similar to what happens with other programs currently in place. 
 
Jeff Thompson asked if OCTA will track the recall.  Kurt Brotcke said OCTA is 
monitoring the recall and will see how it develops. 
 
Brian Cox asked if a heavier weight will be put on projects that reduce 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions.  Kurt Brotcke said it is expected that projects 
reducing GHG emissions and Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) will rank higher. 
 
Roy Shahbazian mentioned Attachment F for committee members to look over.  
Kurt Brotcke said the list on Attachment F is a partial list for fiscal year 2017-18.   
 

B. OC Transit Vision: Investment Framework 
Gary Hewitt gave an overview of the OC Transit Vision Investment Framework. 
Jennifer Wieland from Nelson Nygaard led a discussion on the outreach thus far 
and Build Your Own Transit System Survey results, and asked committee 
members for feedback on the proposed corridors. 

 
Jennifer Wieland asked if the results were surprising to anyone.   

 
 Jessica Lomakin said, as a non-rider, she is not surprised to see more late-

night, early-morning and weekend services score high.  She said as a driver, 
she thinks those are the times she would potentially use the service. 
 

 Paul Adams suggested that to get people out of their cars, streetcar/light rail 
are the way to go.  And thinking ahead, he suggested considering the 
possibility of autonomous vehicles and having garages with charging stations 
so they can also connect to some sort of rail system. 

 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 3 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

 David Emerson said he uses the LA Blue Line often.  He does not take local 
Orange County transit, however, because generally Google Maps will tell him it 
takes longer than driving his own car.  He says Orange County’s system is 
currently set up for people who cannot afford anything else.  

 
 Michael McNally asked how many respondents were riders versus non-riders.  

Jennifer Wieland said it was close to 50/50.  She said 54% of respondents had 
never used any of Orange County’s transit services. 

 
 Dan Kalmick said for people that ride, real-time information is important.  He 

said the survey seems correlative with non-riders looking for more park and ride 
lots. He said some high tech companies in Los Angeles provide shuttles for 
their employees. 

 
 Jessica Lomakin asked how the Build Your Own Transit System Survey was 

promoted to the public.  Jennifer Wieland said OCTA had staff at fairs and 
festivals, it was promoted electronically, was sent to colleges/universities, 
promoted on the buses with advertisements and in-person at bus and Metrolink 
stations. 

 
Jennifer Wieland asked if OCTA is looking at the correct 10 priority corridors. 
 
 Jeff Thompson said it does not appear that the OC Streetcar is listed.  Gary 

Hewitt said it is included on the map. Jeff said it appears there is an inequity of 
corridors in the north part of the county versus the south part of the county.  He 
understands the reasoning, but believes OCTA needs to be conscious of this 
appearance.  He said while the corridors look like good solutions, he would like 
to see the map of the corridors populated with destination information. 
 

 Barry Duffin talked about the old Pink Bus on Beach Boulevard that went all the 
way up to Whitter Boulevard. He then went on to ask how people could get 
down to the beach if Fullerton Transportation Center was the starting point. 
Gary Hewitt explained that the Harbor Boulevard line ends at Hoag Hospital.  
He said it is hard for OCTA to go further south to the beach on Harbor due to 
traffic and space for the bus in that area.  Also, transit demographics drop off 
significantly north of the Fullerton Transportation Center. 

 
 Barry Duffin spoke about a trip to Boston where he took his bicycle with him, 

and suggested the team do some research on that system.  He said he was 
able to take buses and rail lines with his bike and luggage and it was very easy 
and safe.  Barry said they also had good real-time information. 

 
 David Emerson said he agrees with the line that connects to Long Beach State 

University.  He mentioned that for a portion of that line there is really nothing 
until you get to Leisure World.  He then said there is no connection between the 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 4 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

Disneyland Resort, Anaheim Convention Center and ARTIC via Katella, which 
seems like a logical corridor.  He said Katella even goes to the Los Alamitos 
Race Track.  Gary Hewitt said Katella was part of the initial screening, so the 
team can look at it again. 

 
 Dan Kalmick said he believes Route 1 in Huntington Beach needs more service 

during the summer.  He also believes Warner Avenue or Edinger would be 
good corridors for future service.  He asked for more detail on the Beach 
Boulevard corridor going to the Goldenwest Transit Center.  

 
 Jeff Thompson suggested OCTA look at getting rail to and from the airport. 

 
 Vince Buck said it seems like one of the priority corridors should serve the 

40,000 students at Cal State Fullerton.  Gary Hewitt said they are looking to see 
how they could extend some of the corridors to meet up with the college. 

 
Alice Rogan asked which corridor should be looked at for a high capacity transit 
system during the next phase. 
 
 Sheldon Pines said in South Orange County there is free transit by way of the 

Laguna Beach Trolley, Dana Point Trolley, and San Juan Trolley.  He believes 
these are successful, in part, because people do not have to drive to the 
trollies.  He believes people would take the bus, if they have no room to park 
their car. 

 
 Paul Adams said the east/west routes with synchronized signals seem to be the 

locations OCTA is looking at.  He believes it will help the buses move faster as 
along those corridors.  He said 17th Street and Brookhurst Street would also be 
good routes to look at in the next phase. 

 
 Michael McNally said transit needs to be high capacity, make less stops and be 

quicker.  He said in order for people to ride transit, something needs to be taken 
away from cars.  Michael is also a proponent of eliminating most left turns in 
order to speed up traffic flow. 

 
 Vince Buck said light rail in the middle of freeways like the I-5. 

 
 Dan Kalmick said the State College corridor looks like the best route to connect 

to the airport. 
 

C. Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) Update 
Greg Nord presented an update on the LRTP.  Greg asked the committee if 
OCTA’s approach to long range transportation planning is headed in the right 
direction. 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 5 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

Michael McNally said the presentation was a good comprehensive overview.  
Michael said he did not feel like flexibility is currently included in the plan for things 
like changing from bus to rail.  He also believes the push for private/public 
partnerships does not leave OCTA with flexibility to adapt to new, emerging 
technologies.  He also said to consider that the federal government appears to be 
taking a smaller role in transportation. 
 
Dan Kalmick asked if there is legislation that promotes telecommuting or that 
funds connected infrastructure technology. Greg Nord said those new 
technologies are being looked at, but the legislation piece has not been discussed 
specifically.  Dan said Santa Clara Transit Agency is making more money off of 
their dark fiber than they are from the actual transit service.   
 
John Taylor asked about leveraging technologies as it relates to autonomous 
vehicles.  He believes it would be a benefit to South Orange County, and OCTA 
could be a leader in this field.  Greg Nord said OCTA is looking at on-demand 
services, but it is up to the cities to explore autonomous vehicles.  He said OCTA 
is getting the word out to the cities about the emerging technologies, but it is 
ultimately up to the individual cities at this point in time.  John would like to see 
OCTA to take a bigger role in these emerging technologies.   
 
David Emerson said Orange County will have to look at some sort of additional rail 
in the future to better connect Riverside, Los Angeles, and Long Beach.  Dan 
Kalmick said a fully autonomous network of cars could potentially move people 
faster than a rail system.  Greg Nord said rail is still on the table.   
 
After the discussion, the CAC agreed with the LRTP approach as presented. 
 

D. Measure M Identity 
Ryan Armstrong provided a presentation on enhancing Measure M’s identity. 
 
Brian Cox asked why the blue signage did better than the orange signage.  Ryan 
Armstrong said the orange one was harder to read at different speeds. 
 
Michael McNally said he did not think Orange County’s Measure M is confused 
with Los Angeles’s Measure M.  He suggested adding “Orange County’s” to the 
Measure M logo.  Alice Rogan said after polling, it was determined the general 
public was unaware of Measure M in Orange County and it has the potential of 
being identified negatively due to other Measure M’s.  Alice said this new format 
goes with OCTA’s overall family branding.   
 
Jeff Thompson asked how OCTA will connect Measure M to OC Go.  Theodore 
Luckham asked if OCTA thinks people are going to be more aware of Measure M 
with the new logo and will the money spent rebranding be worth it.  Alice said it is 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 6 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

not a huge investment – OCTA would mainly change the logo moving forward on 
signage and use digital communications for awareness.   
 
Dan Kalmick said he likes this idea because, when he hears talk of Measure M, 
he has to take a moment to figure out whether it is Orange County or Los Angeles 
that is being talked about. 
 
Alice Rogan asked the committee if they think it is worth the effort to avoid the 
confusion with other Measure M’s and build Orange County Measure M 
awareness with its own identity.  
 
Jessica Lomakin said she believes it is worth the effort.  Dianne Thompson said it 
will prove useful in the future for Measure M to have its own identity, especially if 
OCTA has another measure.  Paul Adams said OCTA needs to own the new 
identity and have it on everything going forward – from message boards to buses 
and materials.  David Emerson is unsure of OC Go specifically, but if that is what 
OCTA uses he recommends there be a transition period.  Michael McNally said 
the presentation was great and logos look great, but he is still unsure if the 
change is necessary. 
 
The majority of the committee members present agreed it was worth pursuing. 
 

E. FY 17-18 Bus Service Improvement Plan 
Gary Hewitt presented the FY 17-18 Bus Service Improvement Plan. 
 
Frank Murphy asked when routes are reduced, are previous years considered and 
could ridership reductions be due to seasonal changes.  Gary Hewitt said OCTA 
looks at a full year at a time or more. 
 
Min Chai said, in the southern part of Orange County, transit needs to be 
structured towards the lifestyles.  She said the current transit options do not make 
sense for her constituents.  Alice Rogan said yes, there are transit dependent 
riders and then there are choice riders. 
 
Barry Duffin asked if the implementation plan will be quantified.  Gary Hewitt said 
yes, ridership is regularly checked and information is shared with the OCTA 
Board. 
 
Roy Shahbazian said thank you for re-looking at route 57 and addressing previous 
comments from the public meetings.  
 
 
 
 
 



Citizens Advisory Committee  Page 7 
Meeting Notes July 18, 2017 
 
 

4. OCTA Staff Updates 
A. Technology & Innovation Ad Hoc Committee 

Dan Kalmick gave a brief recap of the May ad hoc committee meeting.  The 
committee discussed future transportation, signal communication technology and 
autonomous vehicle regulations. 
 

B. Staff Liaison 
No comments at this time. 

 
5. Public Comments 

No one from the public spoke. 
 

6. Chair/Vice-Chair Remarks 
There were no remarks. 
 

7. Committee Member Comments 
Michael McNally said all the presentations from OCTA staff have been fantastic and 
he suggested the CAC write a letter thanking OCTA for providing great presentations 
and information to the CAC. 
 
Barry Duffin commented on the lack of safety on the Santa Ana River Trail from 
Lincoln past the ARTIC due to the encampments along the trail.  He said the area is 
impassable and it is not just homeless, there is a criminal element.  He said OCTA is 
supporting active transportation and the OC Loop, but sadly this is happening and it is 
not being policed.  He hopes to create a positive environment for the OC Loop. 
 

8. Adjournment/Next Meeting 
The meeting adjourned at 2:17 p.m.  The next meeting will be at the OCTA offices on 
October 17, 2017 at 12:00 p.m. 
 



Citizens Advisory Committee 
Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Attendance Record 

Page 1 

 
 
 

 = Present                      = Absent                   R = Resigned 
 
 

  
Member 

 

7/18/17 10/17/17 1/16/18 4/17/18

Adams, Paul     

Bahadori, Hamid     

Buck, Vince     

Chai, Min     

Cox, Brian     

Darnell, Kara     

Duffin, Barry     

Emerson, David     

Heft, Janine     

Henry, Merlin “Bud”     

Kalmick, Dan     

Klopfenstein, Stephanie     

Kozak, Steve     

Lomakin, Jessica     

Luckham, Theodore     

Lumbard, Austin     

McGregor, Derek     

McNally, Michael     

Mier, Luis     
Murphy, Frank     
Novak, Margaret     

Paredes, Mark     

Pines, Sheldon     

Posey, Mike     

Ramirez, Andrew     

Reimer, Laurel     

Shahbazian, Roy     

Taylor, John     

Thompson, Dianne     

Thompson, Jeff     
   



                                                                                       COMMITTEE TRANSMITTAL 

Orange County Transportation Authority 
550 South Main Street / P.O. Box 14184 / Orange / California 92863-1584 / (714) 560-OCTA (6282) 

 
September 11, 2017 
 
 
To: Members of the Board of Directors 
    
From: Laurena Weinert, Clerk of the Board 

Subject: Next 10:  Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis 

Executive Committee Meeting of September 7, 2017 
 
Present: Chairman Hennessey, Vice Chair Bartlett, and Directors Do, 

Donchak, and Shaw 
Absent: Directors Murray and Nelson 
 
 
Committee Vote 

This item was passed by the Members present. 
 
 
Committee Recommendations 

  

 A. Receive and file the Next 10 Market Conditions Forecast and                  
Risk Analysis. 

 
 B. Continue to monitor the changing environment and its effects on the 

advancement of the Next 10 Delivery Plan. 
 

C. Continue to prioritize Measure M2 projects for external funding 
consistent with the Orange County Transportation Authority’s adopted 
programming policies. 

 
 
Committee Discussion 
 
At the September 7, 2017 Executive Committee meeting, Committee members 
requested that in addition to monitoring the changing economic environment, as 
included in Committee Recommendation B, that staff develop a plan                  
(and appropriate interval) to report to the Board of Directors the results of the 
monitoring effort, identifying trends, and risks associated with project delivery. 
 

 



 

Orange County Transportation Authority 
550 South Main Street / P.O. Box 14184 / Orange / California  92863-1584 / (714) 560-OCTA (6282) 

September 7, 2017 
 
 
To: Executive Committee 
 
From: Darrell Johnson, Chief Executive Officer 
 
Subject: Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  
 
 
Overview 
 
A Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis has been prepared to inform 
the Orange County Transportation Authority’s Next 10 Plan. The Next 10 Plan 
provides the framework to accelerate the delivery of Measure M2 freeway, 
streets and roads, transit, and environmental projects through the year 2026.  
In response to lower actual sales tax revenue, new forecasting methodology, 
and increased competition for available resources due to capital work underway 
in the Southern California Region, a Market Conditions Forecast and Risk 
Analysis was conducted. The report and findings are presented to the Board of 
Directors for review.   
 
Recommendations 
 
A. Receive and file the Next 10 Market Conditions Forecast and Risk 

Analysis. 
 
B. Continue to monitor the changing environment and its effects on the 

advancement of the Next 10 Delivery Plan. 
 

C. Continue to prioritize Measure M2 projects for external funding consistent 
with the Orange County Transportation Authority’s adopted programming 
policies. 

 
 
Background 
 
On November 7, 2006, Orange County voters approved the renewal of  
Measure M, the one-half cent sales tax for transportation improvements.  
Work on expedited delivery of Measure M2 (M2) began in 2007, with emphasis 
on organizational, procedural, and technical efforts to prepare for early 
realization of M2 benefits beginning in 2011. Subsequent to early startup efforts, 
 



Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  Page 2 
 

 

 

the 2008 Great Recession resulted in a significant reduction in the M2 sales tax 
revenue forecast. In response, the Orange County Transportation  
Authority (OCTA) developed the M2020 Plan that established program delivery 
priorities through 2020.  In response to continued lower actual sales tax revenue, 
a new forecasting methodology was adopted in March 2016 and prompted the 
need to develop a revised delivery plan focusing on the next ten years.  
On November 14, 2016, the Board of Directors (Board) approved the  
M2020 Plans successor, the Next 10 Plan (Next 10), which provides a framework 
to accelerate the delivery of M2 freeway, streets and roads, transit, and 
environmental projects through the year 2026. 
 
To ensure success of the Next 10, a market conditions forecast and risk analysis 
was conducted to review OCTA’s ability to deliver the breadth of programs and 
projects. The review was sought to forecast and analyze market conditions for 
public infrastructure development in the state, surrounding counties, and 
specifically Orange County, over the next five to ten years, to help develop 
strategies to anticipate and manage competitive cost pressures and the 
availability of materials, equipment, labor, and qualified professional staff and 
services that would affect delivery of the Next 10 in the next decade.   
 
Discussion 
 
Consulting services were sought to conduct OCTA’s Market Conditions Forecast 
and Risk Analysis. Following OCTA’s procurement policies, the contract was 
awarded to the Orange County Business Council. The consultant reviewed the 
prior market conditions forecast and risk analysis, completed in 2008, as a basis 
for this analysis. In addition, the consultant conducted a risk analysis to identify 
risk factors that could affect OCTA’s construction costs.  
A copy of the consultant’s report is attached for Board review (Attachment A), 
which includes findings and recommendations resulting from the analysis.  
 
Seven risk factors were identified, analyzed, and discussed: 
 
1. Sustained low unemployment 
2. Increases in residential construction 
3. Consolidation in the public works construction industry 
4. Increases in interest rates 
5. Neighboring county transportation construction programs 
6. Construction wage pressure 
7. Future recession 
 
  



Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  Page 3 
 

 

 

Of these, the consultant’s analysis identified four near-term cost risks that are 
expected to be particularly influencing: neighboring county transportation 
construction programs, construction wage pressures, sustained low statewide 
unemployment, and residential construction demand and the effect on the public 
works construction market.  
 
A summary of the consultant’s near-term costs risks are included below. 
 
Neighboring County Transportation Construction Programs 
 
With local transportation measures in place in neighboring counties, the 
Southern California region is in the midst of a large transportation construction 
program. The analysis showed substantial transportation construction spending 
from neighboring counties, with Los Angeles County programming 
approximately four to six times as much construction as Orange County in the 
five and ten-year time periods. Riverside and San Bernardino counties programs 
are also substantial and are pursuing construction programs that are larger than 
Orange County’s Next 10 Program.  
 
This is expected to create cost pressures as contractors will have more 
opportunities to bid on projects and will be less likely to reduce bid prices and 
potentially fewer bids. This was noted by the consultant as one of the primary 
cost risks for OCTA in the near term.  
 
Construction Wage Pressure 
 
The review identified that construction wage growth in Los Angeles, Orange, 
Riverside, and San Bernardino has accelerated since 2014.  This likely reflects 
labor demand pressures in these sectors and indicates stronger wage growth 
than the national economy.  
 
Historical data suggests that construction employment can expand or contract 
substantially with economic cycles, but periods of high construction employment 
have coincided with periods of high public sector infrastructure costs when 
measured by the California Department of Transportation Construction Cost 
Index (CCI). The analysis concludes, if private sector economy continues  
to grow, coupled with large public sector construction programs in  
Southern California, pressure on construction wages and public sector 
construction costs will likely increase.  
 
  



Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  Page 4 
 

 

 

Sustained Low Unemployment 
 
The unemployment levels in California are approaching levels that in the past 
have been considered full employment. While wage growth has, until recently, 
been slow, the possibility of sustained and prolonged low unemployment raises 
the potential for continued construction cost pressures.  
 
Wages have not shown much upward pressure during the recovery from the 
Great Recession, generally increasing from 2 percent to 2.5 percent per year 
during the recovery, suggesting that the economy may still have some slack.  
If so, the unemployment rate might remain at or near current levels for the next 
few years. The consultant concludes, overall, sustained near-full employment 
will likely exert more cost pressure than their model predicts, and could place 
OCTA in a structurally high-cost and increasing-cost environment for capital 
projects. 
 
Increases in Residential Construction 
 
A key change from the past is how building permits correlated with the CCI in 
the approximate dozen or so years before 2012. However, building permitting 
activity has not recovered as the state’s economy has rebounded from the Great 
Recession. Statewide, building permitting activity is at relatively low levels, 
considering the low unemployment rate. The California Legislative Analyst  
Office (LAO) has demonstrated that construction in Los Angeles County, in 
particular, has lagged what is necessary to accommodate population growth.  
A 2015 LAO analysis found that between 1980 and 2010, California’s major 
metropolitan areas added approximately 120,000 new housing units each year, 
while the LAO estimated that 210,000 new units per year would have been 
needed to meet demand.  
 
Several bills have been introduced in the state legislature to address housing 
needs. Some of the policy proposals may substantially streamline the approval 
process for new housing. If such proposals dramatically increase new housing 
construction, which the consultant’s analysis finds possible but not likely, that will 
increase demand for construction labor and materials. 
 
In light of the near-term risk factors, the consultant’s analysis suggests the 
following four recommendations to mitigate cost risks: 
 
1) Developing early warning indicators that track data that can provide 

information about risk factors. This would include, but not be limited to, 
data on building permits, construction employment and wages, executive 
opinion about the local economy, and construction commodity costs. 

 



Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  Page 5 
 

 

 

2) Explore apprenticeship programs that can increase the pipeline of skilled 
construction labor. 

 
3) Explore ways to continue to be a preferred client for public works 

construction companies to maintain bid competition. 
 

4) Explore further accelerating the Next 10 Program, to the extent possible, 
as the near-term risks mostly suggest increased rather than decreased 
public works construction costs. 

 
A summary of the consultant’s identified risk factors, impact on costs, likelihood, 
comments, and possible OCTA mitigation is found in Attachment B.   
 
Next Steps 
 
Overall, the consultant’s analysis identifies a strong potential that during the  
Next 10 delivery years, OCTA will experience an increasing-cost environment. 
This, coupled with a reduction in revenue, presents the potential for significant 
challenges in the delivery of M2 and the Next 10 as envisioned.  The consultant’s 
recommendations include a consistent message that OCTA should accelerate 
projects to the extent possible.   
 
Next 10, along with successor plans (Early Action Plan and M2020 Plan), was 
developed to accelerate projects where possible which has proven successful.  
Delivering early has allowed OCTA to capture significant external funding and 
deliver projects in a lower cost environment.  During the Next 10 time period, 
more than $6 billion in transportation improvements promised to the voters in M2 
are slated to be completed or underway by 2026. While final sales tax receipts 
for fiscal year 2016-17 have not been received, the forecasting agencies’ 
economic outlook provided to date indicate further decline in sales tax 
collections. Staff is currently reviewing the Next 10 and preparing an update.  
The update will review and revise project costs with the latest information, take 
into account the revised revenue projections, and incorporate information 
provided in this Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis.  The Next 10 
update is scheduled to go to the Board in the fall 2017. 
 
  



Next 10: Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis  Page 6 
 

 

 

Summary 
 
Overall, the final report of the Market Conditions Forecast and Risk Analysis that 
assessed OCTA’s readiness to deliver the Next 10 indicates a potential 
increasing-cost environment.  Staff will incorporate the recommendations from 
this analysis into the Next 10 update, scheduled to go to the Board in the  
October/November timeframe.  
 
Attachments 
 
A. Orange County Business Council, OCTA Next 10: Market Conditions 

Forecast and Risk Analysis, August 2017 
B. Risk Factors, Effect on Public Works Costs, and Some Possible OCTA 

Mitigations  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 

 

Approved by: 

 
 

Tamara Warren  Kia Mortazavi 
Manager, Program Management Office 
(714) 560-5590 

Executive Director, Planning 
(714) 560-5741 

 



i 

 

 
 

 

ORANGE COUNTY BUSINESS COUNCIL  

 

 

OCTA Next 10: Market Conditions  

Forecast and Risk Analysis 
 
 

 

August 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Marlon G. Boarnet, Ph.D. and Wallace Walrod, Ph.D. 

with assistance from Benjamin Palmer and Debapriya Chakraborty 
 

 

PREPARED FOR: 

 

THE ORANGE COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY  

  

ATTACHMENT A 



ii 

 

Executive Summary 
 

This research develops cost forecasts for the public works construction environment, as a tool to 
help guide implementation of the Orange County Transportation Authority’s (OCTA’s) Next 10 
Delivery Plan.  Following the Great Recession of 2008, cost pressures in transportation 
construction in Southern California were muted.  The level of the California Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans) construction cost index (CCI) dropped by 26.6 percent from 2006 to 
2010.  Yet from 2012 to 2016, the Caltrans CCI rose 78 percent.  Certainly some of that was a 
correction following the substantial drop in the CCI from 2006 to 2010, but several factors 
indicate that public works construction in Southern California has shifted from a low-
demand/low-cost environment to one of high-demand and cost pressure. 
 
OCBC modeled the relationship between the Caltrans CCI and several economic indicators, to 
forecast growth in public works construction costs five years and ten years into the future.  The 
OCBC team found that the time trends in the Caltrans CCI are most associated with building 
permits and the unemployment rate.  Regression-based models forecast a two percent increase 
in the level of the CCI in 2017 (from 2016), and then relatively stable levels going forward after 
2017. 
 
There are several reasons to believe that the forecasting model cannot capture all of the cost risk 
that will be present in the next five to ten years.  One of the best predictors of the recent change 
in the CCI was changes in the state’s unemployment rate.  With the California unemployment 
rate at 5.35 percent for 2016, further declines are unlikely, and forecasting models will not be 
able to capture the full effect of sustained cost pressures from a full employment economy.  For 
that reason, OCBC conducted a risk analysis to identify risk factors that could affect OCTA’s 
construction costs. 
 
Seven risk factors were analyzed and discussed: 
 

1. Sustained low unemployment 
2. Increases in residential construction 
3. Consolidation in the public works construction industry 
4. Increases in interest rates 
5. Neighboring county transportation construction programs 
6. Construction wage pressure 
7. Future recession 

 
Of these, the OCBC team believes that near term cost risks will be particularly influenced by 
sustained low statewide unemployment, residential construction demand and the effect on the 
public works construction market, neighboring county transportation construction programs, 
and construction wage pressures. 



iii 

 

- Sustained low unemployment:  The California economy is approaching unemployment 
levels that, in the past, have been considered full employment.  While wage growth has, 
until recently, been slow, the possibility of sustained and prolonged low unemployment 
raises the potential for continued construction cost pressures. 
 

- Increased residential construction:  California has underbuilt new housing, relative to 
demand, for years.  A 2015 state Legislative Analyst Office (LAO) analysis found that 
between 1980 and 2010, California’s major metropolitan areas added approximately 
120,000 new housing units each year, while the LAO estimated that 210,000 new units 
per year would have been needed to meet demand.  Several bills have been introduced 
in the state legislature to address housing needs, and some policy proposals might 
substantially streamline the approval process for new housing.  If such proposals 
dramatically increase new housing construction, which OCBC analysis finds possible but 
not likely, that will increase demand for construction labor and materials. 
 

- Neighboring county transportation construction programs:  The passage of Los Angeles’ 
County’s Measure M in 2016 was a highly visible indicator that neighboring counties are 
proceeding with ambitious construction programs.  OCBC examined 1,388 projects 
reported in the Southern California Association of Governments financially constrained 
regional transportation plan.  Our analysis shows that Los Angeles county is currently in 
the midst of a construction program that, in dollar value in five-year windows to 2030, 
will be from four to six times the size of OCTA’s Next 10 plan, and Riverside and San 
Bernardino are both pursuing construction programs that are at least as large as OCTA’s 
Next 10 plan. 

 
- Construction wage pressure:  In Orange, Los Angeles, Riverside, and San Bernardino 

Counties, construction wage growth ranged from 0.49 to 2.36 percent annually from 2012 
to 2014, increasing to 4.39 to 5.3 percent annually from 2014 to 2016 (the most recent 
year for which data are available.) 
 

In light of these factors, OCBC analysis suggests that OCTA can mitigate cost risk through the 
following policies: 
 

- Develop early warning indicators that track data that can provide information about risk 
factors.  This would include, but not be limited to, data on building permits, construction 
employment and wages, executive opinion about the local economy, and construction 
commodity costs. 

 
- Explore apprenticeship programs that can increase the pipeline of skilled construction 

labor. 
 



iv 

 

- Explore ways to continue to be a preferred client for public works construction 
companies, to maintain bid competition. 
 

- Explore further accelerating the Next 10 program, to the extent possible, as the near-
term risks mostly suggest increased rather than decreased public works construction 
costs. 

 

 



1 

 

I.  Market Forecast, Quantitative Analysis 

 

In 2008, the Orange County Business Council (OCBC) conducted the market conditions forecast 
for the Orange County Transportation Authority’s (OCTA) M2 Early Action Plan (EAP).  That 
forecast was done at the onset of the Great Recession, and OCBC predicted that construction 
costs would fall in the years immediately after 2008.  The forecast predicted a falling or stable 
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) construction cost index (CCI) to 
approximately the year 2012, which proved accurate.  The Caltrans construction cost index fell 
from 100 in 2007 to 76.4 in 2010, and the Caltrans CCI did not rise to exceed its 2007 value until 
2014  (See Table 1 and Figure 1).  Yet the Caltrans CCI has risen rapidly in recent years, reaching 
140.75 in 2016, suggesting that the after-effect of the Great Recession has ended. 
 
 

Table 1: California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Construction Cost Index (CC) by 
year, 1972-2016 
 

California Department of Transportation - Price Index for Highway Construction Items (CCI) 

1972 11.3 1987 39.7 2002 53.1 

1973 11.4 1988 40.5 2003 56.6 

1974 17.2 1989 43.9 2004 79.1 

1975 17.2 1990 44.1 2005 98.1 

1976 16.5 1991 40.4 2006 104.1 

1977 19.8 1992 40.4 2007 100 

1978 22.6 1993 42.2 2008 95 

1979 29.3 1994 46.2 2009 78.4 

1980 30.1 1995 45 2010 76.4 

1981 34.4 1996 45.6 2011 84 

1982 30.9 1997 47.6 2012 79.2 

1983 31 1998 49.9 2013 97.09 

1984 36.2 1999 52.9 2014 108.32 

1985 36 2000 53.5 2015 122.02 

1986 37.3 2001 58.7 2016 140.75 
Source: California Department of Transportation, Price Index for Selected Highway Construction Items 

  



2 

 

Figure 1: Time Trend of Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CCI), 1972 to 2016 
 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, Price Index for Selected Highway Construction Items 

 

 
The 2008 M2 EAP market conditions forecast was based on a regression analysis that examined 
how four variables – building permits, population, employment, and income – are associated 
with the Caltrans CCI and other cost factors.  In the 2008 analysis, building permitting activity was 
the best predictor of the Caltrans CCI (and of cost factors generally), and the large drop in building 
permitting activity that preceded the Great Recession predicted a period of slack markets for 
construction materials and labor.  Table 2 and Figure 2 show the time trend of building permits 
in California from 1983 through 2016.  Note that building permits in the state dropped from 
208,972 in 2005 to 36,421 in 2009 and stayed below 100,000 every year until 2016, which saw 
100,265 building permits issued in California – slightly less than half the “housing bubble” year 
values of 2004 and 2005. 
  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

1
9

7
2

1
9

7
4

1
9

7
6

1
9

7
8

1
9

8
0

1
9

8
2

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
8

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
8

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
8

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
6

P
ri

ce
 In

d
ex

California Department of Transportation - Price Index for 
Highway Construction Items (CCI)



3 

 

Table 2: California Building Permits by Year 
 

California Total Building Permits (1983-2016) 

1983 172,569 1995 85,293 2007 113,034 

1984 224,845 1996 94,283 2008 64,962 

1985 272,317 1997 111,716 2009 36,421 

1986 314,569 1998 125,707 2010 44,762 

1987 253,171 1999 140,137 2011 47,343 

1988 255,559 2000 148,540 2012 59,225 

1989 237,747 2001 145,757 2013 85,472 

1990 164,313 2002 167,761 2014 85,844 

1991 105,919 2003 195,682 2015 98,233 

1992 97,407 2004 212,960 2016 100,265 

1993 84,656 2005 208,972   

1994 97,047 2006 164,280   

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Building Permit Survey 

 

Figure 2: Time Trend of California Building Permits 
 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Building Permit Survey 

 

The forecast from 2008 was influenced by the housing bubble’s coincident rise in building 
permits, the increasing level of the Caltrans CCI, and the substantial decline in permitting. This 
led to a prediction of a slack construction materials and labor market for the years following 2008. 
 

 -

 50,000

 100,000

 150,000

 200,000

 250,000

 300,000

 350,000

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

B
u

ild
in

g 
P

er
m

it
s

California Building Permits (1983 - 2016)



4 

 

Looking forward toward developing a forecast for the next five and ten years, the earlier M2 EAP 
forecast provides context, but what is striking is how conditions have changed.  The economy has 
recovered, cost factors (including the Caltrans CCI) are rising, suggesting tightening demand, but 
building permitting activity has seen at best a slow and still incomplete recovery.  The following 
observations and questions help set the stage for the analysis. 
 

1. Building permitting activity may have been, at least in part, a proxy for broader factors 
(such as coincident increases and then contractions in world demand, from 2000 to 2012) 
in the 2008 forecast.  Certainly, to some extent, building activity is a structural factor that 
affects the cost of public works construction.  The question is to what extent materials 
and labor are substitutable over public- and private-sector markets, and to what extent 
the relationship observed in the 2008 analysis continues to be a useful forecasting tool 
today. 

2. Will price and supply factors, going forward, be most strongly influenced by the national 
and world economy or by local conditions, including the public works construction 
program in Orange and other southern California counties? 

3. Around 2012, the Caltrans CCI began to increase rapidly while state building permitting 
activity, while also increasing, remained well below peaks from previous time periods.  
Does this signal a weakening of the relationship between building permits and public 
sector construction costs going forward? 

 
To foreshadow our results by briefly summarizing the answers to the above questions, the OCBC 
team believes that a market forecast going forward should rely less exclusively on building 
permits than did the M2 EAP forecast.  The relationship between permits and, for example, the 
Caltrans CCI shows signs of change, and there is discussion later in this report how supply-side 
factors, including consolidation in the construction and engineering services industry in the years 
after 2008, might importantly affect cost pressures.  Before going into that in detail, our analysis 
starts with descriptive analytics. 
 

Descriptive Analysis 

 
The graph of the Caltrans CCI in Figure 1 shows clear time trends that follow the business cycle.  
The rapid increase in the CCI during the housing bubble years following 2002 is followed by a 
decline after 2008, and then an increase in the past four years.  The long-term trend, judging by 
Figure 1, suggests an increase in the growth rate of the Caltrans CCI following 2003.  The average 
annual growth rate of the Caltrans CCI was 5.3 percent from 1972 to 2003 and 7.3 percent from 
2003 to 2016. 
 
Figure 3 graphs both the Caltrans CCI and statewide building permits, from 1983 to 2016.  Both 
series, the CCI and building permits, are normalized to a value of 100 in 1983.  The value in each 
year is divided by the 1983 value, such that the values of both series in any year show the 



5 

 

percentage change from 1983 to that year.  For example, the normalized Caltrans CCI value in 
2006 is 335.8, indicating that the CCI had increased 235.8% (335.8 minus 100) from 1983 to 2006.  
Normalizing values allows both series to be represented with the same y-axis, despite 
dramatically different values in the underlying data, and allows readers to easily see percent 
change from the 1983 base year. 
 
In Figure 3, starting in 2000, building permits increased in California, while the Caltrans CCI 
showed an increase that was more dramatic, in percentage growth terms, than building permits.  
Both series fall following 2006, but the increase in the Caltrans CCI beginning in 2012 is not 
accompanied by much of an increase in building permits. 
 
Figure 3: Normalized Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CC) and California Building Permits, 
1983 to 2016 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau, Building Permit Survey 

 
 

Figures 4, 5, 6, and 7 show the same normalized time trend for the Caltrans CCI compared to 
population (Figure 4), employment (Figure 5), total wages (Figure 6), and per capita personal 
income (Figure 7). Wages and income are in nominal dollars, not adjusted for inflation.  All values 
are for California.  Data sources and raw data are shown in appendix table A1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Caltrans CCI and California Building Permits (1983 - 2016)
Normalized to 1983

CCI Building Permits



6 

 

Figure 4: Normalized Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CCI) and California Population, 1983 to 
2016 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau 

 

Figure 5: Normalized Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CCI) and California Employment, 1983 
to 2016 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, California Employment Development Department 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Caltrans CCI and California Population (1983 - 2016)
Normalized to 1983

CCI Population

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Caltrans CCI and California Employment (1983 - 2016)
Normalized to 1983

CCI Employment



7 

 

Figure 6: Normalized Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CCI) and California Total Wages, 1983 
to 2016 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, California Employment Development Department 

 

Figure 7: Normalized Caltrans Construction Cost Index (CCI) and California Per Capita Personal 
Income (PCPI), 1983 to 2016 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Caltrans CCI and California Total Wages (1983 - 2016)
Normalized to 1983

CCI Income (Total Wages)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Caltrans CCI and California Per Capita Personal Income (1983-2016)
Normalized to 1983

CCI Income (PCPI)



8 

 

In addition to the CCI, Caltrans reports cost factors for materials, which will be discussed later in 
this report.  The OCBC team also analyzed data from Engineering News Record, which reports a 
construction cost index (ENR CCI) and a building cost index (ENR BCI) for the Los Angeles 
metropolitan area.  
 
The ENR Cost Index formula contains four pricing components including: steel, lumber, cement 
and labor costs. This price data for the three building materials are gathered from a single 
supplier of each building material in each city. Therefore, the suppliers may be located within Los 
Angeles city limits, or they may not, but instead may be somewhere within the greater 
metropolitan area. Considering that these building material prices are collected from a single 
source for each material in each city/metropolitan area, the price is a spot price; it is not a 
comprehensive price based on multiple sources. ENR has no way of knowing if their sources are 
charging the average price for their large metropolitan area for a given material, or a higher or 
lower than average price.  For that reason, the ENR data and indices are not capable of 
determining average prices but rather are better suited to tracking the change (fluctuation) of 
the commodity price in a specific city over time.  
 
The ENR indices measure construction and building costs that can apply to both the private and 
public sectors, whereas the Caltrans CCI is designed to measure public sector transportation 
infrastructure costs.  Figures 8 and 9 show the time trend of the ENR CCI and BCI respectively, 
and the data are in Appendix Table A-2. 
 

Figure 8: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 1983 – 2016 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release 

 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 C
o

st
 In

d
e

x

Engineering News Record - Construction Cost Index
(1983-2016)



9 

 

Figure 9: Engineering News Record Building Cost Index (BCI), 1983 – 2016 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release 

 

The trends for the ENR CCI and BCI are smoother than for the Caltrans CCI, suggesting that it will 
be difficult to associate those variables with changes in structural variables such as building 
permits, population, employment, or wages.  The M2 EAP analysis did not find the ENR CCI and 
BCI as useful as the Caltrans CCI, and our analysis similarly finds those less useful for the Next 10 
forecast.  Appendix Figures A-1 through A-5 show the normalized values of the ENR CCI and ENR 
BCI versus, respectively by appendix figure, Los Angeles metropolitan (five-county) area building 
permits, Los Angeles metropolitan area population, Los Angeles metropolitan area employment, 
Los Angeles metropolitan area wages, and Los Angeles metropolitan area per capita personal 
income.  None show visual relationships to the ENR CCI or BCI. For that reason, our analysis does 
not use the ENR indices in the forecast model. 
 

Regression Models 

 

1.  Models from 2008 Market Conditions Report 

 

The OCBC team reran models that reproduced, as closely as possible with available data, the 
regression models in the 2008 market conditions report.  Those models were classified into two 
types – levels models (regressing the level of the Caltrans CCI on the levels of the four key 
independent variables – building permits, population, employment, and total wages – all for 
California), and change models, regressing the level of the Caltrans CCI on the changes of the 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

B
u

ild
in

g 
C

o
st

 In
d

e
x

Engineering News Record - Building Cost Index  
(1983-2016)



10 

 

same four key independent variables.  Both the levels and change models include first and second 
lags of Caltrans CCI on the right hand side.  The regression equations are shown below. 
 

Levels Model 

 

uPOPPOPPOPEMPEMPEMP

INCINCINCBPBPBPYYY

tttttt

ttttttttt









214113122111109

281762514322110




 

where Y = cost or price index 

 BP = building permits 

 INC = total wages 

 EMP = total employment 

 POP = population 

 u = the regression error term 

and the subscripts “t”, “t-1” and “t-2” indicate years (“t” being the current year, “t-1” is a one year 
lag, and  “t-2” is a two year lag) 
β’s are regression coefficients 

 

Changes Model 

 

uCHPOPCHPOPCHPOP

CHEMPCHEMPCHEMPCHINCCHINC

CHINCCHBPCHBPCHBPYYY

ttt

ttttt

ttttttt













21411312

21111092817

62514322110

___

_____

____







 

where the term "CH" behind a variable indicates the year-to-year change 

(e.g. BP_CHt = BPt – BPt-1) 

The results are shown in Appendix Tables A3 and A4.  Table A3 shows the two regressions, levels 
and changes models, for the Caltrans CCI.  Table A4 shows the same models fit on data for the 
Los Angeles Metropolitan Area, with the Engineering News Record (ENR) construction cost index 
(ENR CCI) as the dependent variable in the first two columns of Table A4.  The ENR building cost 
index (BCI) is the dependent variable in the second two columns of Table A4.  The dependent 
variables in Tables A4 are the same variables in Table A3, but measured for the Los Angeles 
metropolitan statistical area. 



11 

 

The variables for building permits are only significant, at the ten percent level, for the two lags in 
the changes model for the Caltrans CCI.  That pattern of insignificance or marginal (10% 
significance level), coupled with the graphical analysis in the previous section, led us to conclude 
that building permits, by themselves, are not a good predictor of cost pressures for the OCTA 
Next 10 delivery timeframe, to the year 2027.  Our analysis developed additional regression 
models, described below. 
 

2.  Regressing Caltrans CCI on Building Permits and Unemployment Rate 

 

Given that the descriptive analysis suggests a relationship between the Caltrans CCI and the 
state’s unemployment rate, in year-on-year percent changes, and until recent years suggests a 
similar relationship with building permits, our analysis fit simple regression models, shown in 
Tables 3 and 4 below.  The models regressed the year-on-year percent change in the Caltrans CCI 
on (1) the year-on-year percent change in building permits in the state, (2) the year-on-year 
percent change in the state’s unemployment rate, and (3) the year-on-year percent change in 
both building permits and the unemployment rate.  Results are shown in Table 3.  Table 4 repeats 
the same model with all variables as three-year moving averages of annual percent changes, 
which smooths the data.   
 

 
Table 3: Caltrans CCI Year-on-Year Percent Change Regressed on Percent Change of Building 
Permits and Unemployment Rate 
  

Building Permits only Unemployment. Rate only Both 
 

coefficient t-statistic coefficient t-statistic coefficient t-statistic 

Building permits, year-on-year % change 0.2141 2.62 
  

0.0066 0.06 

Unemployment rate, year-on-year % change 
  

-0.4218 -4.33 -0.4164 -3.1 

sample size 33 
 

27 
 

27 
 

Years 1984-2016 1990-2016 1990-2016 

R-squared 0.1809 
 

0.4284 
 

0.4285 
 

Note:  All data are for California 
      

Coefficients statistically significant at 5% level shown in bold 
    

 
  



12 

 

 

Table 4:  Caltrans CCI Year-on-Year Percent Change, 3-year Moving Average Regressed on 
Percent Change of Building Permits and Unemployment Rate, 3-year Moving Average 
  

Building Permits only Unemployment. Rate only Both 
 

coefficient t-statistic coefficient t-statistic coefficient t-statistic 

Building permits, year-on-year % change 0.2186 3.12 
  

-0.0334 -0.32 

Unemployment rate, year-on-year % change 
  

-0.405 -5.03 -0.4344 -3.54 

sample size 31 
 

25 
 

25 
 

Years 1986-2016 1992-2016 1992-2016 

R-squared 0.251 
 

0.5241 
 

0.5263 
 

Note:  All data are for California 
      

Coefficients statistically significant at 5% level shown in bold 
    

 

The coefficient on the unemployment rate is always statistically significant and highly stable in 
magnitude across all models in Tables 3 and 4.  The coefficient on building permits is similarly 
stable in magnitude when it is statistically significant, which is only in the bivariate regression 
shown in the first column of Tables 3 and 4.  When both building permits and the unemployment 
rate are included in the percent changes and three-year moving average percent change models, 
only the unemployment rate is statistically significant.  For that reason, the OCBC team used the 
unemployment rate to develop a simple forecasting model for Caltrans CCI, shown in the next 
sub-section. The ENR data are too smooth and likely not sufficiently focused on public works 
costs to provide a reliable cost forecast.  The forecast of the Caltrans CCI is the best available 
numerical forecast that can be applied to OCTA’s conditions. 
 

3. Forecasting Model for Caltrans CCI 

 
The estimated regression coefficients from the second column of Table 3 (the bivariate regression 
of the percent annual change in the Caltrans CCI on the percent annual change in the California 
unemployment rate) were used to develop a forecast of the Caltrans CCI, to the year 2027.  The 
results are shown in Table 5, below. 
 

  



13 

 

Table 5:  Five-Year Forecast (to 2022) and Ten-Year Forecast (2027) for Caltrans CCI, from 
Unemployment Rate Year-on-Year Percent Change Model 
 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2027 

CA Unemp. Rate 7.50 6.20 5.35 5.10 5.05 5.00 5.05 5.00 5.00 4.60 

  % YOY change, CA Unemp 
 

-17.33% -13.71% -4.67% -0.98% -0.99% 1.00% -0.99% 0.00% -1.65%* 

Caltrans CCI level, actual 108.32 122.02 140.85        

Predicted CCI % YOY change 
  

5.78% 1.97% 0.41% 0.42% -0.42% 0.42% 0 0.70% 

Predicted CCI Level     149.00 151.93 152.56 153.20 152.55 153.19 158.61 

* Total percent change in forecast unemployment rate from 2022 value is -8%, which is -1.65% annually over five years. 
Note:  California unemployment rates are forecast values after 2016. 

 

Note that the predicted unemployment rate values, after 2016, are averages of the forecasted 
values from the California Legislative Analyst Office, the California Department of Finance, the 
Los Angeles Economic Development Corporation, and the California Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans).  Only Caltrans has forecasted state unemployment rates for years 
beyond 2020, and so the 2021 and 2022 and later values for the state unemployment rates are 
Caltrans forecasts.  The forecasted unemployment rate data to 2022 that are used to obtain the 
average forecast unemployment rates in Table 5 are shown in Appendix Table A5. 
 
The forecast in Table 5 shows a leveling of the Caltrans CCI at levels not much higher than the 
current level.  With the 2016 California unemployment rate at 5.35 percent, close to full 
traditional “full employment” levels, the model will imply that the increase in the Caltrans CCI 
will slow and level off. 
 
While changes in the state unemployment rate are an excellent correlate of changes in the 
Caltrans CCI, particularly in approximately the past fifteen years, a forecasting model based on 
changes in the unemployment rate cannot capture sustained public works cost pressure from an 
economy operating at or near full employment.  The OCBC team experimented with models that 
relate the levels of the Caltrans CCI to the level of the state unemployment rate, but those 
predicted the same leveling of the Caltrans CCI.  Any forecasting model will be limited when the 
future is unlike the past, and California may be entering a period of relatively full employment – 
very different from the past few years.  OCBC does not believe that a simple forecasting model 
based only on demand-side proxies such as the unemployment rate or building permits can 
capture cost pressures that might arise during sustained periods of full or near-full employment.  
While our analysis finds the slowing of the increase in the Caltrans CCI after 2017 to be credible, 
the OCBC team believes that the five-year forecast might understate – possibly importantly so – 
cost pressures and hence increases in the Caltrans CCI going forward.  This report discusses 
reasons for that possible understatement in the context of a risk analysis, in the next sub-section. 
 
Ten-Year Forecast:  The only available unemployment rate forecasts beyond 2022 are from 
Caltrans who project that the California unemployment rate will decrease from 5.0 percent in 



14 

 

2022 to 4.6 percent in 2027.1  Given that unemployment rate forecast, the model predicts an 
increase in the Caltrans CCI to 158.36 in 2027.  The OCBC team believes that the unemployment 
rate estimate and the model relationship at the ten-year window is too uncertain to be useful, 
and while the ten-year forecast is shown in Table 5, our analysis cautions against reading much 
into the 2027 forecast.  At the ten-year timeframe, the OCBC team believes that a risk analysis 
will be more useful, and the key risks are described below.  A risk analysis will be important even 
for near-term years, and the OCBC team encourages OCTA to view the risk analysis described in 
Section II as an integral part of their cost forecasting exercises. 
 

II.    Discussion and Risk Analysis 

 
There are several factors which could modify the forecast shown in Table 5.  Potential risk factors 
are summarized and listed below, along with possible OCTA mitigation strategies for each risk 
factor, in Table 6, at the end of this sub-section. 
 

A.  Sustained Low Unemployment 

 
In May of 2017, the national unemployment rate was 4.3 percent, a 16-year low compared to 
when the unemployment rate registered a reading of 4.2 percent in February 2001, according to 
the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. The unemployment rate will likely not fall much lower.  Wages 
have not shown much upward pressure during the recovery from the Great Recession, generally 
increasing from 2 percent to 2.5 percent per year during the recovery, suggesting that the 
economy may still have some slack, and if so the unemployment rate might remain at or near 
current levels for the next few years.2 
 
Models based on historical data may not be able to represent the cost pressures endemic in a 
state economy that is near full employment and that remains so for at least a few years.  In the 
past, full employment prompted the Federal Reserve Bank to raise interest rates, inducing 
recessions, and hence limiting the time that the national economy remained at full employment.  
Given slack wage pressure, the Federal Reserve Bank may be less likely to rapidly raise interest 
rates, and a global savings glut (discussed below) will exert downward pressure on interest rates.  
On net, it is possible that unemployment could remain low for the foreseeable next several years, 
and possibly within the timeframe of at least the five-year Table 5 prediction. 
 

                                                      
1 See http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/offices/eab/index_files/2016/FullReport2016.pdf.  
2 For information on wage growth, see the Economic Policy Institute’s nominal wage tracker, at 
http://www.epi.org/nominal-wage-tracker/.  

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/offices/eab/index_files/2016/FullReport2016.pdf
http://www.epi.org/nominal-wage-tracker/


15 

 

The pressures on infrastructure costs will be difficult to predict, and would depend in part on 
supply response.  Briefly, it is unlikely that raw materials supplies would expand to meet demand.  
(In Section III our analysis discusses cost pressures on raw materials.)  Overall, sustained near-full 
employment will likely exert more cost pressure than the Table 5 model predicts, and could place 
OCTA in a structurally high-cost and increasing-cost environment for transportation projects. 
 

B.  Residential Construction Accelerates 

 
Building permits were correlated with the Caltrans CCI in the approximately dozen or so years 
before 2012, but building permitting activity has not recovered as the state’s economy has 
rebounded from the Great Recession.  Statewide, building permitting activity is at relatively low 
levels, particularly so for an economy with low unemployment.  The problem is in part political – 
local governments are reluctant to approve large or even medium-size residential construction 
projects due to “not in my backyard” (NIMBY) pressures from neighbors.  The California 
Legislative Analyst Office (LAO) has demonstrated that construction in Los Angeles County, in 
particular, has lagged well behind what would be needed to accommodate population growth.  
A 2015 LAO analysis found that between 1980 and 2010, California’s major metropolitan areas 
added approximately 120,000 new housing units each year, while the LAO estimated that 
210,000 new units per year would have been needed to meet demand.3   
 

The housing shortage and underbuilding is, in part, a characteristic of California’s politics, and the 
risks to OCTA related to building permitting and construction are as much political as economic.  
The state’s housing crisis has sparked political attention.  There were over 100 bills dealing with 
housing in the California legislature as of early May, and while many if not most will not pass, for 
the second year in a row Sacramento is debating policies that might structurally change the 
incentives for localities to approve or deny building projects.4  In 2016, Governor Brown 
suggested a “by-right” zoning legislation that would have provided presumptive (by right) 
approval for any residential construction project that was consistent with the local zoning code 
and that provided affordable units that met 20% (far from transit) or 10% (near transit) targets. 
That proposal met with opposition in the legislature, and the governor’s 2016 proposal was not 
introduced in the assembly or state senate.5  Yet the large amount of legislative activity related 
to housing in this session indicates that the debate has, if anything, intensified.  If the state enacts 
changes that require localities to approve residential construction projects that would have 
                                                      
3 California Legislative Analysts Office, “California’s High Housing Costs: Causes and Consequences,” 
2015, available at http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.aspx, 
accessed June 10, 2017. 
4 Libby, Sara, “California’s Legal Assault on NIMBY’s begins,” Citylab, May 9, 2017, available at 
https://www.citylab.com/equity/2017/05/californias-legal-assault-on-nimbys-begins/525840/, accessed 
June 10, 2017. 
5 Barmann, Jay, “Governor Brown’s ‘By-Right’ Housing Fast-Track Proposal Dead in the Water,” SFist, 
Aug. 22, 2016, http://sfist.com/2016/08/22/governor_browns_by_right_housing_fa.php.  

http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.aspx
https://www.citylab.com/equity/2017/05/californias-legal-assault-on-nimbys-begins/525840/
http://sfist.com/2016/08/22/governor_browns_by_right_housing_fa.php


16 

 

otherwise been blocked, or if reforms to the California Environmental Quality Act reduce the 
ability of citizens to oppose projects or that expedites challenges, California might see a 
substantial increase in construction.  Already the Inland Empire – a location of relatively more 
affordable housing in Southern California – is seeing large increases in residential construction.  
The Inland Empire saw the fastest growth in construction jobs among any U.S. metropolitan area 
in March versus a year earlier.6 
 
If California’s political environment changes in ways that reduce the power of NIMBY opposition, 
the state might see a rapid and large increase in building permits, as many of the state’s urban 
and coastal counties have backlogs of residential building that has lagged population growth.  
That could create substantial cost pressure as materials and skilled labor could be diverted from 
public works to private residential construction.  Even absent such policy changes, the residential 
construction industry is growing rapidly in the Inland Empire.  If policies change to allow more 
rapid residential permitting and construction, the resulting “burst” of residential construction 
might be temporary, if supply eventually meets pent-up demand, but that could take a few years 
and the result would be a large cost pressure on OCTA projects if residential building accelerates.  
Such a dramatic change in California’s residential construction regulatory framework should be 
regarded as unlikely, but the pent-up pressure for more homes is structural.  Despite the 
increasing political attention to the state’s housing affordability crisis, the trend of the past four 
decades has been toward a more rigid and delay-prone residential construction environment.  
Overall, a change that allows more building in California would be an unlikely outcome, albeit an 
outcome that is growing more likely and an outcome that could exert substantial cost pressure 
on OCTA projects.  Without policy change, there is still likely to be increasing residential 
construction, but likely concentrated in inland counties where permitting is politically easier. 
 

C.  The Public Works Construction and the Associated Professional Support Industries 
Continue to Consolidate 
 

Supply-side factors, such as market structure and competition in the public works construction 
and associated architecture-engineering support services industries, are likely an important 
factor in current cost pressures.  During and immediately following the Great Recession, the 
public works construction industry saw several consolidations, particularly among architecture, 
engineering, and design firms.  Smaller firms merged with larger, often multi-national practices.  
At the same time, our earlier 2008 market conditions analysis suggested that firms during the 
2008 time period may have been reducing their bid price to win enough business to cover 
variable costs.  During the depths of the recession, there is anecdotal evidence that firms might 
have bid below their typical profit margin, and public works agencies reported bids coming in 
below estimated costs during the recession years.  Those days have passed.  The recent 

                                                      
6  Lansner, Jonathan, “California, Inland Empire in Building Booms, 6 Things to Know,” Orange County 
Register, May 2, 2017, available at http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/02/california-inland-empire-in-
building-booms-6-things-to-know/, accessed June 10, 2017. 

http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/02/california-inland-empire-in-building-booms-6-things-to-know/
http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/02/california-inland-empire-in-building-booms-6-things-to-know/


17 

 

consolidations pruned marginal firms and, when combined with growth in the economy, have 
likely allowed firms to return to pre-recession bid practices.   
 
Going forward, the question is whether the public works construction market will see further 
consolidation.  If so, competition for bids might decrease.  Our analysis suggests this as a risk 
factor that OCTA should monitor, continuing their tracking of the number of bidders. Following 
the 2008 market conditions analysis, OCTA successfully implemented several of OCBC’s 
recommendations and measures to facilitate the bid process.  In response to risk from 
consolidation of bidders, OCTA can continue and, where possible, enhance those efforts that 
make the agency a preferred client. Additionally, look to do what can be done to increase 
competition in the public works infrastructure market, acknowledging that OCTA has worked 
hard to be a client of choice. 
 

D.  Increasing Interest Rates 

 
The Federal Reserve Bank began what most observers expect to be a program of sustained, 
moderate interest rate increases in December of 2015.7  Interest rates are still near the lowest 
levels seen in the past several decades, and the U.S. is likely to be in a low but increasing interest 
rate environment going forward.  The aging of the Baby Boom population in all developed 
countries, and rapid aging in middle income countries, has created a global savings glut in the 
form of Baby Boomer retirement savings.  That will exert downward pressure on interest rates.  
While rates will likely increase in future years due to Federal Reserve Bank policy activity, the 
OCBC team expects the increases to be more moderate but possibly sustained over a longer 
period of time than following the peak of the business cycles in the 1970s through the 1990s.  A 
return to the high interest rate environment of the 1980s is unlikely, even though interest rates 
will rise.  This will increase OCTA’s borrowing costs and, to the extent that rising interest rates 
reduce the demand for residential construction, exert a downward cost pressure on public works 
projects. 
 

E.  Growth in Public Works Demand from Neighboring Counties 

 
With the passage of Measure R in 2008 and Measure M in 2016, Los Angeles County is in the 
midst of a large transportation construction program.  That program, and similar half-cent sales 
tax infrastructure programs in other Southern California counties, will create cost pressures as 
private firms have more opportunities to bid on projects and hence those firms may be less 

                                                      
7 See, e.g., the discussion in Tankersley, Jim, “Federal Reserve Raises Interest Rates for Second Time in a 
Decade,” Washington Post Wonkblog, Dec. 14, 2016, available at 
https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2016/12/14/federal-reserve-expected-to-announce-
higher-interest-rates-today/?utm_term=.f811c5091e1f, accessed June 10, 2017. 

https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2016/12/14/federal-reserve-expected-to-announce-higher-interest-rates-today/?utm_term=.f811c5091e1f
https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2016/12/14/federal-reserve-expected-to-announce-higher-interest-rates-today/?utm_term=.f811c5091e1f


18 

 

willing to reduce bid prices.  Our analysis sees and highlights this as one of the primary cost risks 
for OCTA in the next few years.  The construction activity from neighboring counties is 
programmed by self-help sales tax increases that have been approved by voters.  Those 
neighboring county construction programs are part of the structural landscape for public works 
projects.  Public sector demand for public works construction will increase as Los Angeles’ 
Measure M funds become available, creating increasing demand for materials and skilled labor. 
 
To better understand pressure from building programs in neighboring counties the OCBC team 
examined the construction program reported in the 2016 SCAG Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP). Our analysis examined 1,388 projects in Los Angeles, Riverside, and San Bernardino 
Counties, that are part of the financially constrained RTP, with completion years from 2016 to 
2030.8  Tables 6 and 7 list the estimated cost (in current year dollars) for these projects, by county, 
with Orange County Next 10 projects removed, which explains the lack of cost estimates for 
Orange County during the 2021-2025 time period.  In other words, if a project is part of Next 10 
and part of the SCAG financially constrained RTP, those project cost estimates will not be in Table 
6 or Table 7, but rather in Table 8. Projects are grouped by highway (Table 6) and transit (Table 
7), and listed in five-year bands based on project end date.  All data are from the 2016 RTP 
Transportation System project list, appendix, adopted April, 2016.9 
 
The 2016 RTP project list is divided into three parts:  the 2015 Federal Transportation 
Improvement Program (FTIP), the financially constrained plan, and the strategic plan.  The 2015 
FTIP contains six years of projects that use federal funds or that require federal approval; the 
financially constrained plan includes projects for which revenues have been reasonably 
identified; the strategic plan is additional projects that the RTP proposes to program if additional 
revenues become available.  The financially constrained plan is the most reasonable starting 
point, and unlike the FTIP the financially constrained plan includes projects with completion dates 
throughout the life of the RTP (2016 through 2040) and lists clear classifications that categorize 
each project as either transit or highway.  Hence Tables 6 and 7 are based on summaries of the 
financially constrained plan. 
  

                                                      
8 Our analysis excluded projects for which OCTA is listed as the lead agency, to capture work in counties 
that neighbor Orange County.  Ventura and Imperial Counties were also excluded, again to focus on 
counties that neighbor Orange County.  Hence the project list studied is a subset of the complete RTP 
project list. 
9 See http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf.  

http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf


19 

 

Table 6:  Freeway Construction Cost Estimates, by County, 2016-2030, SCAG RTP/SCS 
 

Freeway Construction Cost Estimates (SCAG RTP/SCS) 

Counties 2016-2020 2021-2025 2026-2030 Total 2016-2030 Costs 

Los Angeles  $16,037,920,000   $14,051,669,000  $5,347,696,000  $35,437,285,000  

Orange  4,561,804,000                             -    2,419,044,000  6,980,848,000  

San Bernardino 8,271,850,000  3,409,228,952  5,547,552,000  17,228,630,952  

Riverside 3,131,576,000  5,476,784,000  2,784,322,000  11,392,682,000  

Total Regional Costs 
         

$32,003,150,000  $22,937,681,952  $16,098,614,000  $71,039,445,952  
Source:  Authors analysis of SCAG 2016 RTP/SCS project list, available at 
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf.  
 

Table 7:  Transit Construction Cost Estimates, by County, 2016-2030, SCAG RTP/SCS 
 

Transit Construction Cost Estimates (SCAG RTP/SCS) 

Counties 2016-2020 2021-2025 2026-2030 Total 2016-2030 Costs 

Los Angeles  $8,790,582,000  $8,782,094,000  $4,072,768,000  $21,645,444,000  

Orange  543,164,000  - -  543,164,000  

San Bernardino 44,080,000  185,452,000  149,265,000  378,797,000  

Riverside 647,540,000  756,335,000  611,915,000  2,015,790,000  

Total Regional Costs $10,025,366,000  9,723,881,000  4,833,948,000  $24,583,195,000  
Source:  Authors analysis of SCAG 2016 RTP/SCS project list, available at 
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf. 

 
Tables 6 and 7 show neighboring counties (Los Angeles, Riverside, San Bernardino), and any 
project with OCTA as a lead agency was subtracted from totals in the above tables.  OCTA’s Next 
10 plan is shown in Table 8.  The OCBC team cautions against a direct comparison of Table 8 to 
Tables 6 and 7.  The Next 10 plan includes projects with OCTA Measure M funding, but would 
exclude projects that do not receive such funding, and hence Table 8 is not a complete accounting 
of projects in Orange County.  Table 9 shows OCTA costs from the 2016 RTP, for projects with 
OCTA as the lead agency (which are excluded from Tables 6 and 7.)  Differences in project end 
dates, differences in the timing of the data, and differences in fund source create differences in 
the tables, particularly so when placing project spending into five-year windows. While the five-
year summary is useful, it also assumes that all spending falls within the five-year window that 
contains the project completion date, which can be misleading (more discussion of this follows 
below) but was the best approach possible given the available data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf


20 

 

Table 8:  OCTA Next 10 Delivery Plan Cost Phasing, 2016-2030 (based on project end dates) 

Next 10 Project Construction Cost Estimates from Next 10 Plan 

Sector 2016-2020 2021-2025 2026-2030 Total 2016-2030 Costs 

Freeways  $1,731,440,801  $1,751,074,028  $761,976,213  $4,244,491,043  

Transit 747,864,728  557,208,964  624,258,500  1,929,332.192  

Streets and Roads 687,083,897  574,777,031  597,036,839 1,858,897,767  

Water / Environmental 27,459,164 40,775,606 49,345,968  117,580,738  

Total Costs $3,193,848,589   $2,923,835,629  $2,032,617,521  $8,150,301,739  
Source:  Authors analysis of OCTA Next 10 delivery plan, available at http://www.octa.net/pdf/M2_Next10DeliveryPlan.pdf. 
 

Table 9: OCTA Freeway and Transit Project Costs from 2016 SCAG RTP/SCS, 2016-2030 
 

OCTA Specific Costs from SCAG RTP/SCS 

  2016-2020 2021-2025 2026-2030 Total 

Freeways         $90,469,000  S1,854,552,000   S1,133,266,000  $3,278,287,000  

Transit 2,770,999,000  300,879,000  -  3,071,878,000  

Total Costs $3,061,468,000   $2,155,431,000   $1,133,266,000   $6,350,165,000  
Source:  Authors analysis of SCAG 2016 RTP/SCS project list, available at 
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf. 
 

Tables 6 and 7 illuminate overall patterns, even with the shortcomings inherent in comparing 
data based on project end date and different time periods.  First, note that transportation 
construction spending from neighboring counties is substantial, with Los Angeles County 
programming approximately four to six times as much construction as Orange County in the 
2016-2020 and 2021-2025 time periods (highlighted in Table 10 below).  Riverside and San 
Bernardino Counties are pursuing construction programs that are at least as large as Orange 
County’s Next 10 program.  
 
Table 10: Regional Construction Costs for Freeways and Transit, 2016-2025 
 

Overall Southern California Regional Construction Costs for 2016-2025 Period (Freeways and Transit) 

Los Angeles $47,662,265,000 

San Bernardino $11,910,610,952 

Riverside $10,012,235,000 

Orange County Measure M (Next 10 Projects) Total $4,787,588,521 

Orange County Overall Total10 $9,892,556,521 

Source: Authors analysis of SCAG 2016 RTP/SCS Project List available at 
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf and Authors analysis of OCTA Next 10 delivery plan, 
available at http://www.octa.net/pdf/M2_Next10DeliveryPlan.pdf. 

 
                                                      
10 Orange County Overall Total may include potential double counting of some costs of certain 
construction projects from the SCAG RTP/SCS and Next 10 Delivery Plan and, as such, this total should 
be seen as the upper limit of overall construction costs in Orange County.    

http://www.octa.net/pdf/M2_Next10DeliveryPlan.pdf
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_ProjectList.pdf
http://www.octa.net/pdf/M2_Next10DeliveryPlan.pdf


21 

 

Some cautions are necessary.  The data in Tables 6 through 10 allocate project costs based on 
completion dates.  For projects in the 2016-2020 time period, contracts may have already been 
signed, staffing might be in place, and the cost pressure might be present and may have been for 
some time.  The pattern in Tables 6 and 7 shows a higher level of spending in 2016-2020 and a 
drop-off in 2026-2030, and both are likely artifacts of the necessity of assigning project cost based 
on end year.  For projects ending in 2016-2020 (some are likely now complete), assigning all costs 
to the current five-year window includes expenditures that were likely from earlier, before 2016, 
time periods.  For 2026-2030, some projects with end dates after 2030 will likely be in progress, 
but those costs will not be included.  Hence there should be caution against interpreting that 
expenditures in the region will decline during the time trend from 2016 through 2030. 
 
OCBC’s analysis reaches the following conclusions: 
 

1. Expenditures in neighboring counties are large, and will be a source of potential price 
pressure for OCTA now and through the next ten years.  While Los Angeles County’s 
program is the largest, Riverside and San Bernardino are also pursuing ambitious 
transportation programs and will be a source of cost pressure. 
 

2. The region’s transportation program, through the next ten years, is more focused on 
highways than transit.  OCTA, with a relatively highway focused program, might view 
highway programs as the primary competition for materials and labor.  That focus may be 
too narrow – transit infrastructure likely uses some of the same materials and skilled labor 
as do highways.  The analysis in Tables 6 and 7 shows that, regardless of assumptions 
about how transit construction competes for inputs with highway construction, the 
programs in neighboring counties provide more funds for highways than for transit. 

 
On net, Tables 6 and 7 show that transit is approximately 26 percent of the projects with end 
dates between 2016 and 2030 in the three counties that border Orange County.  That is a 
relatively highway-focused construction program.  The OCBC team compared that to two other 
data sources.  Los Angeles County’s Measure M, passed in 2016, allocates 35 percent of its funds 
for transit construction, 17 percent for highway construction, and 16 percent to local return.11  If 
local return is spent mostly on street and road projects, Measure M, the most recent sales tax 
measure in Los Angeles, will split roughly 50-50 across transit and highway construction, and 
other funds (state, federal) are consistent with more total expenditures on highway than on 
transit construction, even in Los Angeles County.  Our analysis also examined the funding split for 
capital projects in the SCAG RTP, 2016 through 2030.  Of those capital projects, 33.3 percent are 

                                                      
11 Proposed Ordinance #16-01, Measure M, Los Angeles County Traffic Improvement Plan, available at 
http://theplan.metro.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/measurem_ordinance_16-01.pdf.  

http://theplan.metro.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/measurem_ordinance_16-01.pdf


22 

 

for transit and passenger rail, again suggesting that the bulk of SCAG region capital projects will 
be for roads and highways.12   
 
Overall the SCAG region is in the midst of an ambitious capital construction program, with 
neighboring counties commissioning work that, in Riverside and San Bernardino, at least matches 
and, combined, exceeds the scale of Orange County.  Los Angeles County’s work program is 
approximately four to six times larger than Orange County’s over the course of the 2016-2025 
period.  This creates the potential for substantial market pressures from demand for construction 
materials and skilled labor from neighboring county programs. 
  

                                                      
12 Data on capital projects for SCAG region are from SCAG 2016 RTP, Transportation Finance appendix, 
Table 8, p. 20, available at 
http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_TransportationFinance.pdf.  

http://scagrtpscs.net/Documents/2016/final/f2016RTPSCS_TransportationFinance.pdf


23 

 

F.  Increasing Construction Wage Pressure 
 
Table 11 shows construction sector wages from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Quarterly 
Census of Employment and Wages for Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, and San Bernardino 
Counties, 2012 to 2016.   
 

Table 11:Construction Wages and Growth Rate, Orange and Neighboring Counties, 2012-2016 
 

County 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

% annual 

growth, 

2012-2014 

% annual 

growth, 

2014-2016 

Los Angeles  $ 55,774.83   $ 56,610.48   $ 57,995.30   $ 61,304.54   $ 63,366.75  1.97% 4.53% 

Orange  $ 61,830.50   $ 61,441.55   $ 63,494.49   $ 66,898.66   $ 69,195.51  1.34% 4.39% 

Riverside  $ 48,063.63   $ 48,520.23   $ 50,358.97   $ 53,819.94   $ 55,834.20  2.36% 5.30% 

San Bernardino  $ 51,890.65   $ 52,297.51   $ 52,397.23   $ 55,594.93   $ 57,341.12  0.49% 4.61% 

Source:  U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, NAICS codes 2362 
(nonresidential building construction), 2361 (residential building construction), 237 (other heavy construction), 
2382 (building equipment contractors), 2381 (building foundation and exterior contractors), 2383 (building 
finishing contractors), 2389 (other specialty trade contractors.) 

 

Construction wage growth in all four counties has accelerated since 2014, likely reflecting labor 
demand pressures in those sectors.  Since 2014, annualized wage growth has ranged from 4.39 
percent (Orange) to 5.3 percent (Riverside).  This reflects stronger wage growth than the national 
economy.  The Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta tracks wage growth, and has estimated that since 
2014, monthly year-on-year wage growth in the national economy has ranged from 2.3 percent 
(January, 2014) to 3.9 percent (October, 2016).13 
 
This is consistent with recent evidence that building construction, particularly in the Inland 
Empire, has accelerated.14  Historical data suggest that construction employment can expand or 
contract substantially with economic cycles, but periods of high construction employment have 
coincided with periods of high public sector infrastructure costs when measured by the Caltrans 
CCI.  If the private sector economy continues to grow, coupled with the large public sector 
construction programs in southern California, pressure on construction wages and hence on 
public sector construction costs will likely increase. 
 

                                                      
13  The Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta national wage tracker is available at 
https://www.frbatlanta.org/chcs/wage-growth-tracker.aspx?panel=1.   
14   The Orange County Register reported in May of 2017 that Riverside and San Bernardino Counties 
added 12,200 construction jobs, year on year, as of March 2017.  See Jonathan Lansner, “California,  
Inland Empire in building booms:  6 things to know,” Orange County Register, May 2, 2017, available at   
http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/02/california-inland-empire-in-building-booms-6-things-to-know/.  

https://www.frbatlanta.org/chcs/wage-growth-tracker.aspx?panel=1
http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/02/california-inland-empire-in-building-booms-6-things-to-know/


24 

 

Apprenticeship programs and other education and training programs such as those offered by 
community colleges can help build the pipeline of skilled construction labor, and hence mitigate 
construction cost pressures.  The construction industry has an extensive internship tradition.  
Approximately two-thirds of all apprenticeships registered with the U.S. Department of Labor are 
in the construction industry.15 Seventy-four percent of all construction apprenticeships are 
represented by the North America’s Building Trades Unions (NABTU), which operates 
apprenticeship programs through approximately a billion dollars of funding nationally in more 
than 1,600 teaching centers.16 
 
Locally, the Los Angeles and Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council is an 
umbrella association representing 48 local unions and district councils in 48 trades and over 
100,000 members.17  Given that public sector construction is often unionized, the Building and 
Construction Trades Council could be a possible partner in launching or expanding apprenticeship 
programs aimed at the public works market.  Such apprenticeship programs would be particularly 
appropriate given the prospects for continued sustained demand for public works construction. 
 

G.  Recession 

 
The current economic expansion is eight years old.18  A recession during the ten-year extended 
Next 10 forecasting window is likely if historic patterns of economic expansion and contraction 
are any guide.  Yet timing such an economic contraction is highly difficult, and beyond the scope 
of this research.  A recession will slow demand for residential construction, and exert downward 
cost pressure on public works projects, but that effect will be countervailed by the large public 
works programs in Los Angeles and neighboring counties.  Those programs are not immune from 
economic contractions – sales tax revenues typically drop during recessions.  But the base level 
of public sector infrastructure spending in Southern California will be high due to county sales tax 
infrastructure construction programs regardless of the status of the business cycle. 
 
These risk factors, and possible OCTA mitigating actions, are summarized in Table 12 below: 
Table 12:  Risk Factors, Effect on Public Works Costs, and Some Possible OCTA Mitigations 
 

                                                      
15  Case Western Reserve University and U.S. Department of Commerce, The Benefits and Costs of 
Apprenticeship: A Business Perspective, Nov., 2016, p. 65, available at 
http://www.esa.gov/sites/default/files/the-benefits-and-costs-of-apprenticeships-a-business-
perspective.pdf. 
16 Ibid. 
17 See http://laocbuildingtrades.org/about-building-trades/.  
18 According to the National Bureau of Economic Research, which dates business cycles and hence 
recession start and end dates, the Great Recession ended in June of 2009.  See 
http://www.nber.org/cycles.html.  

http://www.esa.gov/sites/default/files/the-benefits-and-costs-of-apprenticeships-a-business-perspective.pdf
http://www.esa.gov/sites/default/files/the-benefits-and-costs-of-apprenticeships-a-business-perspective.pdf
http://laocbuildingtrades.org/about-building-trades/
http://www.nber.org/cycles.html


25 

 

Risk Factor Impact on 
Costs 

Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Sustained low 
unemployment 

Increases 
costs beyond 
Table 5 model 
prediction 

Likely in the 
next 2 to 5 
years 

Wage pressure 
is still low, 
suggests that 
the economy 
has continued 
room to 
expand 
without 
necessitating 
policy efforts 
(i.e. interest 
rate increases) 
that would 
induce a 
recession 

Accelerate the 
next 2 to 3 
years of the 
Next 10 plan. 
 
Increase the 
supply of 
contractors. 
 

Increased Building 
Permitting (and hence 
residential construction) 

Increases 
costs 

Unlikely given 
long-term 
political 
factors, but 
regulatory 
change could 
be sudden 

Increasing 
permitting 
depends in 
part on state 
or local 
political 
changes, but 
Inland Empire 
construction 
has been 
increasing 
rapidly 

Accelerate 
next 2 to 3 
years of the 
Next 10 plan. 
 
Labor force 
training to 
increase 
supply of 
skilled 
construction 
labor. 



26 

 

Risk Factor Impact on 
Costs 

Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Continued Consolidation 
in Construction and 
Architecture/Engineering 
Industry 

Increases 
costs in near-
term, then 
pressure for 
costs to 
remain high 

Likely, given 
recent 
consolidation 
trends 

The industry 
has been 
consolidating.  
Unclear 
whether that 
trend has 
played out or 
will continue. 

OCTA 
becomes a 
preferred 
client 
 
Reduce 
barriers to 
new entrants 
into OCTA bid 
process 
 
Innovate in 
ease of doing 
business with 
OCTA 

Interest Rate Increases Short-term 
cost increases 
as financing 
costs, for 
OCTA and 
contractors, 
increase – 
long-term 
downward 
cost pressure 
if recession 
ensues 

Highly likely to 
have 
moderate 
interest rate 
increases in 
next 2 to 5 
years 

U.S. is near 
historically low 
interest rates; 
global savings 
glut will exert 
downward 
pressure on 
interest rates; 
on net, rate 
increases likely 
to be 
moderate and 
sustained 

Complete 
financing 
agreements in 
the near-term 
to avoid 
higher 
interest rates 



27 

 

Risk Factor Impact on 
Costs 

Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Neighboring County 
Transportation Programs 
Exert Cost Pressure 

Increases 
Costs 

Highly Likely; 
current work 
programs in 
neighboring 
counties meet 
or exceed level 
in Orange 
County 

Recent self-
help sales tax 
increases “lock 
in” sustained 
demand for 
public works 
contractors in 
Southern 
California 

OCTA 
becomes a 
client of 
choice 
 
Simplify the 
bid process 
and process of 
doing 
business with 
OCTA 
 
Accelerate 
Next 10 plan 
to lock in 
prices before 
peak market 
pressure from 
neighboring 
counties 

Increasing Construction 
Wage Pressure 

Increases 
Costs 

Likely in 
foreseeable 
future, unless 
residential 
market 
reverses 
course (which 
would likely 
coincide with a 
recession) 

Construction 
wages 
increases by 
from 4.39 to 
5.3 percent 
annually, 2014 
to 2016, in 
Orange and 
neighboring 
SCAG region 
counties 

Accelerate 
Next 10 plan 
in advance of 
additional 
increases in 
construction 
wages 
 
Support 
efforts to 
increase the 
pool of 
construction 
labor 



28 

 

Risk Factor Impact on 
Costs 

Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Recession Decreases 
Costs 

Likely within 
the next 10 
years, but 
timing highly 
uncertain 

Recession will 
reduce 
demand for 
private sector 
residential and 
commercial 
construction, 
but public 
sector demand 
will remain 
although sales 
tax revenues 
will drop in a 
recession 

Timing 
uncertainty 
makes 
mitigation 
measures, 
beyond those 
listed above, 
difficult to 
implement. 

 

The risk factors above create cost pressures that are in opposing directions, with varying possible 
timing and certainty, and with varying mitigation measures that may, in some cases, be at odds 
with each other.   Our research judges the most likely risk factors (near-term) to be sustained low 
unemployment, increases in residential construction, cost pressure from neighboring county 
public works programs, and increasing construction wage pressure. .  All are features of today’s 
environment.  The largest risk, in terms of magnitude on public works costs, would be changes in 
the residential construction regulatory environment – an unlikely outcome but one that has the 
potential to create large cost pressures if that leads to a residential building boom.  Such a 
regulatory risk hinges on political factors, and our analysis suggests that OCTA monitor the 
politics surrounding the regulatory approval process for residential permitting and construction.  
Note that changes that simplify or speed the project approval process could lower OCTA’s costs, 
and the increased cost pressure from residential building if permitting and approvals became 
easier could be countervailed by lower costs to OCTA from more rapid approval of the agency’s 
projects.   
 
The OCBC analysis predicts cost pressures that will remain high, with the potential for cost 
increases that exceed model predictions at least in the near-term (next 2 to 5 years).  When 
possible, OCTA might accelerate the first five years of the Next 10 Plan to avoid cost increases. 
Our analysis notes that significant additional near-term acceleration in the Next 10 Plan may be 
unrealistic, given that OCTA has worked to accelerate projects to the extent possible.   More 
importantly, the supply of public works contractors and competition for their services promises 
to be a key cost factor going forward.  For that reason, OCTA should do what it can to increase 
the supply of bidders for projects, doing what it can to remain a preferred client for public works 
contractors. 

  



29 

 

III. Cost Factor Analysis 

 

OCBC collected data from 1983 through 2016, annually, for cost factors from two data sources – 
Caltrans and Engineering News Record (ENR).  As with the indices analyzed in the previous 
section, the Caltrans data are for the entire state, and the ENR data are for the Los Angeles 
metropolitan area.  The Caltrans data are from bids, and reflect data for public works 
transportation projects from what can be relatively small samples.  The ENR data are from a 
survey of businesses, and represent private sector construction costs better, but each ENR cost 
factor is from one supplier, limiting the ability of the ENR data to reflect market averages.  In 
many cases, materials costs across public and private sector jobs may be the same, but 
differences in contracting practices, the size of the job, and the timespan of the project could 
lead to differences in buying power across public and private entities.   
 
Table 13 lists the Caltrans cost factor data, with units shown in the column headers, and Table 14 
lists the ENR cost factor data, also with units in the column headers. 
  



30 

 

Table 13: Caltrans Cost Factors, 1983 through 2016, State of California 
 

 Year 

Roadway 
Excavation 
($/Cu Yd) 

Aggregate 
Base 

($/Ton) 

Asphalt 
Concrete 

Pavement 
($/Ton) 

PCC 
Pavement 
($/Cu Yd) 

Class A PCC 
Structure 
($/Cu Yd) 

Bar 
Reinforcing 

Steel 
($/Lb) 

Structural 
Steel  

($/Lb) 

1983 2.1 9.2 27.57 52.04 225.84 0.335 2.155 

1984 3.19 13.67 28.38 55.79 238.48 0.375 2.155 

1985 2.77 11.55 30.15 64.13 232.39 0.413 2.288 

1986 3.01 12.76 28.82 60.49 249.74 0.412 2.388 

1987 2.97 17.57 27.54 70.62 280.4 0.418 2.546 

1988 4.16 10.13 27.46 58.66 284.55 0.44 3.956 

1989 4.19 10.62 29.43 73.78 303.49 0.483 3.103 

1990 4.73 12.05 30.77 68.93 295.24 0.469 2.209 

1991 3.08 10.07 33.43 62.64 295.21 0.431 2.284 

1992 3.62 9.76 32.46 66.78 265.31 0.419 3.073 

1993 4.53 9.89 35.41 66.76 243.79 0.464 2.706 

1994 4.68 10.39 37.15 66.45 277.92 0.547 2.334 

1995 4.1 10.18 35.29 63.85 298.8 0.499 2.266 

1996 3.8 9.74 37.66 65.93 321.88 0.512 2.172 

1997 5.25 10.29 36.07 78.48 308.54 0.496 2.337 

1998 4.95 11.55 38.78 75.91 319.95 0.553 2.595 

1999 6.55 12.86 40.14 77.95 321.22 0.521 3.215 

2000 6.21 11.14 45.12 78.14 363.59 0.507 2.754 

2001 5.83 14.58 43.89 75.74 425.17 0.612 3.906 

2002 4.84 12.42 49 74.15 363.5 0.508 3.248 

2003 5.05 15.05 48.35 109.96 362.75 0.6 1.71 

2004 13.11 16.97 53.55 135.94 399.64 0.947 5.39 

2005 14.13 20.61 75.72 171.22 567.31 0.968 2.666 

2006 12.8 20.26 86.04 179.67 630.16 1.039 3.734 

2007 10.84 20.54 85.48 204.69 566.25 0.935 6.966 

2008 11.39 17.9 78.5 177.91 553.62 0.938 5.183 

2009 9.37 14.91 80.38 125.41 484.78 0.593 4.492 

2010 7.94 14.2 80.25 122.82 483.64 0.716 2.149 

2011 11.82 14.12 87.11 135.4 427.76 0.83 2.102 

2012 8.24 14.66 89.36 132.52 461.23 0.927 2.497 

2013 8.98 18.6 100.11 157.26 538.01 1.01 5.57 

2014 17.49 23.1 96.97 206.22 660.64 1.12 10.132 

2015 15.87 22.85 105.09 194.14 652.86 1.2 15.54 

2016 21.1 25 121.43 210.83 702.98 1.62 19.62 
Source:  California Department of Transportation, Highway Construction Price Index Reports; 

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/esc/oe/hist_price_index.html 

 
  

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/esc/oe/hist_price_index.html


31 

 

Table 14: Engineering News Record Cost Factors, 1983 – 2016, Los Angeles Metropolitan Area 
 

Year 

Asphalt 
Average 
($/Ton) 

Portland 
Cement 
($/Ton) 

Gravel 
(>3/4 
Inch; 

$/Ton) 

Gravel 
(<3/4 
inch; 

$/Ton) 

Crushed 
Stone  

($/ Ton) 

Sand 
Concrete 
($/Ton) 

Std. 
Structural 

Shapes 
($/CWT) 

I-Beams 
($/CWT) 

Reinforcing 
Bars 

($/CWT) 

1983 165.00 66.06 5.40 5.47 3.97 6.18 42.63 44.63 14.00 

1984 173.00 62.75 7.67 7.82 8.15 7.88 43.42 45.14 13.66 

1985 180.50 63.86 7.93 8.01 8.23 8.04 43.40 44.82 12.97 

1986 187.00 63.93 8.05 8.07 8.32 8.13 43.49 44.87 13.02 

1987 196.00 63.94 8.20 8.19 8.44 8.30 43.69 45.01 12.25 

1988 163.55 65.95 8.23 8.24 7.70 8.33 34.01 35.94 14.81 

1989 115.10 66.40 8.20 8.25 6.97 8.35 25.65 28.77 17.80 

1990 118.08 66.75 8.38 8.48 7.03 8.40 25.72 28.90 17.93 

1991 115.50 64.93 8.65 8.58 6.99 8.35 26.33 28.78 18.15 

1992 94.63 63.48 8.78 8.08 6.68 6.68 23.77 24.70 18.90 

1993 96.93 63.85 9.15 8.65 6.94 6.10 23.10 23.68 21.43 

1994 108.95 63.58 9.20 8.72 7.36 6.25 24.62 25.83 23.90 

1995 115.04 65.55 9.28 9.05 7.20 6.33 25.80 25.91 25.90 

1996 120.23 70.84 9.70 9.31 7.45 6.56 26.32 24.47 27.00 

1997 128.07 74.11 9.86 9.68 7.67 6.63 26.48 25.20 26.86 

1998 134.74 76.91 9.92 9.56 7.76 6.97 27.30 27.11 26.79 

1999 125.42 77.91 9.83 8.87 7.94 6.90 27.03 26.86 25.60 

2000 126.61 79.04 9.42 8.66 8.13 6.94 26.83 26.88 26.57 

2001 145.03 79.63 9.35 8.86 7.82 6.97 27.11 27.02 27.33 

2002 147.19 81.02 9.93 9.66 7.96 7.10 26.97 27.24 26.08 

2003 165.35 81.99 10.94 10.20 8.02 7.48 26.15 25.96 24.91 

2004 175.34 82.48 10.81 10.25 8.09 7.52 29.51 29.74 29.57 

2005 214.55 86.41 10.26 10.41 8.30 7.63 32.98 34.03 34.40 

2006 232.28 88.77 10.50 10.46 8.44 7.94 35.52 37.31 35.52 

2007 268.39 94.60 10.52 10.41 8.55 8.05 38.25 39.97 35.99 

2008 283.31 98.00 10.50 10.04 8.90 8.29 42.83 44.17 39.16 

2009 284.26 98.02 10.50 10.01 8.90 8.30 45.49 46.71 41.41 

2010 284.26 98.02 10.50 10.01 8.93 8.30 45.49 46.71 41.41 

2011 284.26 98.02 10.50 10.01 8.93 8.30 43.97 42.85 32.78 

2012 309.57 101.76 10.65 10.36 8.93 8.68 43.62 42.34 31.99 

2013 345.00 107.00 10.87 10.86 8.93 9.20 43.40 42.18 31.97 

2014 345.00 107.00 10.87 10.86 8.93 9.20 43.45 42.23 32.03 

2015 348.83 112.79   8.95 9.25 44.75 43.18 34.23 

2016 358.52 114.90   9.25 9.22 49.74 50.73 45.00 
Source:  Engineering News Record Construction Economies Archive, http://www.enr.com/economics/current_costs 

 
 

http://www.enr.com/economics/current_costs


32 

 

Graphing these cost factor trends over time is instructive, but because that involves seven graphs 
for the Caltrans cost factors and nine graphs for the ENR cost factors, those graphs are shown in 
Figures A6 through A21 of the appendix.  Figures A6 through A12 display the Caltrans cost factors 
over time, and Figures A13 through A21 show the time trend of the ENR cost factors.  Each figure 
shows the cost factors normalized to 100 in the beginning year of 1983, so that later years can 
be quickly interpreted as a percentage of the 1983 value.  Each figure also shows the normalized 
building permit data, 1983 through 2016, for visual comparison with the cost factor time trend.  
Building permit data are for California when shown on the Caltrans cost factor graphs and for the 
Los Angeles metropolitan area when shown for the ENR cost factor graphs. 
 
Some trends are evident from Appendix Figures A6 through A21.  First, the cost factors increase 
after 2012 or 2013 – a trend that is consistent with the Caltrans CCI trend.  The Caltrans cost 
factors show rapid increases after 2012, with the largest percentage increases for roadway 
excavation costs and structural steel (Figures A6 and A12, respectively.)  The ENR cost factors 
also increase starting around 2012, but the increase is smoother and more modest than for the 
Caltrans cost factors.  For the ENR cost factors, those related to steel (Figures A19 through A21) 
show the largest percentage increases, qualitatively consistent with the Caltrans information, 
although the magnitude of increases are generally smaller in the ENR cost factors.  The smoother 
ENR trend is likely due to the fact that ENR samples one supplier of each cost factor, and 
individual suppliers likely change prices smoothly over time. 
 
The individual cost factors do not display trends that are qualitatively different from the Caltrans 
CCI, ENR CCI, or BCI indices.  Those indices are formed from the cost factors, so this is not 
surprising.  Also, the individual cost factors show little visual relationship to building permitting 
activity in recent years.  For both reasons, there is little reason to believe that forecasting models 
for individual cost factors will give insights beyond the forecasting model for the indices.  For that 
reason, OCBC believes that an analysis of risk and uncertainties in the overall market is more 
important, and readers should refer to the risk analysis in Section II. 
 

IV. Recommendations and Indicators 
 
Going forward, risk management will be complex but important for OCTA’s Next 10 Plan.  OCBC 
suggests that OCTA develop a set of data indicators that function as an early warning system, 
alerting the agency to possible changes in risk factors.  The following are a list of possible 
indicators to consider, with suggested frequency shown in parentheses: 
 

- Overall employment/unemployment trends from the California Employment 
Development Department (EDD) (monthly) 

- Federal Research Labor Market Conditions Index (monthly) 
- Employment in construction jobs, based on the NAICS codes used in Table 11, Bureau of 

Labor Statistics’ Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages and EDD (quarterly) 



33 

 

- Data on wages in construction jobs, based on the NAICS codes in Table 11, from the 
Bureau of Labor Statistics’ Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (quarterly) 

- Building permit data, focused on Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino Counties 
(quarterly) 

- Number of bidders on County Transportation Commission projects (quarterly) 
- Executive opinion from the California State University Fullerton Orange County Business 

Expectations (OCBX) Survey (quarterly) 
- Chapman University Orange County Composite Index (quarterly) 
- Chapman University Consumer Sentiment Index 
- Commercial and industrial vacancies, CoStar (quarterly) 
- Commodity prices, focused on aggregate base, concrete and PCC pavement, and bar and 

structural steel, from Caltrans (statewide) and from Los Angeles (ENR), (quarterly) 
 
Of these data, the number of bidders would require collaboration between OCTA and agencies 
in neighboring counties.  If appropriate, OCBC suggests exploring such data sharing, to the extent 
feasible and allowed by law, so that agencies can see trends in the number of bids and hence any 
effect of industry consolidation. 
 
More generally, the development of a data tracking system will be important in allowing OCTA 
to identify trends early to assess how risks are changing.  In the next several years, increasing 
cost pressures will likely dominate factors that would tend to reduce costs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



34 

 

IV. Appendix  



35 

 

Appendix Table A-1: California Department of Transportation Construction Cost Index (CCI), California 
Building Permits, Population, Employment, Total Annual Payrolls and Per Capita Personal Income Levels 
and Normalized (1983-2016) 

California Department of Transportation Construction Cost Index (CCI), California Building Permits, 
Population, Employment, Total Annual Payrolls and Per Capita Personal Income Levels (1983-2016) 

  
Caltrans 

CCI 
Building 
Permits 

Population Employment Total Annual Payroll PCPI 

1983 31 172,569 25,337,000 11,372,808 195,054,946,160 14,538 

1984 36.2 224,845 25,816,000 11,765,867 216,618,428,420 15,864 

1985 36 272,317 26,402,000 12,125,483 236,522,988,980 16,767 

1986 37.3 314,569 27,052,000 12,440,467 255,170,888,000 17,573 

1987 39.7 253,171 27,717,000 12,870,917 279,366,221,300 18,491 

1988 40.5 255,559 28,393,000 13,233,408 302,871,575,460 19,606 

1989 43.9 237,747 29,142,000 13,583,867 324,027,212,800 20,576 

1990 44.1 164,313 29,828,496 14,264,200 346,973,875,947 21,494 

1991 40.4 105,919 30,458,613 13,960,000 351,494,177,154 21,824 

1992 40.4 97,407 30,987,384 13,880,900 362,212,067,130 22,644 

1993 42.2 84,656 31,314,189 13,817,000 363,604,887,659 22,964 

1994 46.2 97,047 31,523,690 13,944,700 373,510,553,612 23,535 

1995 45 85,293 31,711,849 14,048,200 392,794,301,814 24,595 

1996 45.6 94,283 31,962,949 14,300,400 417,660,266,084 25,885 

1997 47.6 111,716 32,452,789 14,784,600 453,907,544,517 27,147 

1998 49.9 125,707 32,862,965 15,184,500 496,463,173,957 29,133 

1999 52.9 140,137 33,418,578 15,555,300 541,647,241,978 30,663 

2000 53.5 148,540 34,000,835 16,033,200 615,026,413,391 33,391 

2001 58.7 145,757 34,512,742 16,197,700 619,146,651,267 34,091 

2002 53.1 167,761 34,938,290 16,108,700 614,542,438,304 34,306 

2003 56.6 195,682 35,388,928 16,102,800 630,692,095,035 35,381 

2004 79.1 212,960 35,752,765 16,304,000 667,521,587,162 37,244 

2005 98.1 208,972 35,985,582 16,582,700 703,992,717,929 39,046 

2006 104.1 164,280 36,246,822 16,789,400 749,504,649,781 41,693 

2007 100 113,034 36,552,529 16,931,600 790,444,530,437 43,182 

2008 95 64,962 36,856,222 16,854,500 797,791,743,140 43,786 

2009 78.4 36,421 37,077,204 16,182,600 754,405,951,731 41,588 

2010 76.4 44,762 37,253,956 16,091,900 768,071,900,576 42,411 

2011 84 47,343 37,674,954 16,258,100 801,387,207,989 44,852 

2012 79.2 59,225 38,041,489 16,602,700 849,471,063,227 47,614 

2013 97.09 85,472 38,373,434 16,958,700 878,441,319,278 48,125 

2014 108.32 85,844 38,739,410 17,348,600 933,404,857,793 49,985 

2015 122.02 98,233 39,059,809 17,723,300 1,005,383,368,506 52,651 

2016 140.75 100,265 39,354,432 18,065,000 N/A 55,987 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, California Employment Development Department, U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 



36 

 

Appendix Table A-1 Continued 
 

California Department of Transportation Construction Cost Index (CCI), California Building Permits, 
Population, Employment, Total Annual Payrolls and Per Capita Personal Income Normalized (1983-

2016) 

  
Caltrans 

CCI 
Building 
Permits 

Population Employment Total Annual Payroll PCPI 

1983 100 100 100 100 100 100 

1984 116.8 130.3 101.9 103.5 111.1 109.1 

1985 116.1 157.8 104.2 106.6 121.3 115.3 

1986 120.3 182.3 106.8 109.4 130.8 120.9 

1987 128.1 146.7 109.4 113.2 143.2 127.2 

1988 130.6 148.1 112.1 116.4 155.3 134.9 

1989 141.6 137.8 115.0 119.4 166.1 141.5 

1990 142.3 95.2 117.7 125.4 177.9 147.8 

1991 130.3 61.4 120.2 122.7 180.2 150.1 

1992 130.3 56.4 122.3 122.1 185.7 155.8 

1993 136.1 49.1 123.6 121.5 186.4 158.0 

1994 149.0 56.2 124.4 122.6 191.5 161.9 

1995 145.2 49.4 125.2 123.5 201.4 169.2 

1996 147.1 54.6 126.2 125.7 214.1 178.1 

1997 153.5 64.7 128.1 130.0 232.7 186.7 

1998 161.0 72.8 129.7 133.5 254.5 200.4 

1999 170.6 81.2 131.9 136.8 277.7 210.9 

2000 172.6 86.1 134.2 141.0 315.3 229.7 

2001 189.4 84.5 136.2 142.4 317.4 234.5 

2002 171.3 97.2 137.9 141.6 315.1 236.0 

2003 182.6 113.4 139.7 141.6 323.3 243.4 

2004 255.2 123.4 141.1 143.4 342.2 256.2 

2005 316.5 121.1 142.0 145.8 360.9 268.6 

2006 335.8 95.2 143.1 147.6 384.3 286.8 

2007 322.6 65.5 144.3 148.9 405.2 297.0 

2008 306.5 37.6 145.5 148.2 409.0 301.2 

2009 252.9 21.1 146.3 142.3 386.8 286.1 

2010 246.5 25.9 147.0 141.5 393.8 291.7 

2011 271.0 27.4 148.7 143.0 410.9 308.5 

2012 255.5 34.3 150.1 146.0 435.5 327.5 

2013 313.2 49.5 151.5 149.1 450.4 331.0 

2014 349.4 49.7 152.9 152.5 478.5 343.8 

2015 393.6 56.9 154.2 155.8 515.4 362.2 

2016 454.0 58.1 155.3 158.8 N/A 385.1 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, California Employment Development Department, U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 



37 

 

Appendix Table A-2: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI) and Building Cost Index 
(BCI), 1983-2016; Levels and Normalized Data to 1983 
  

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI) and Building Cost Index (BCI), 1983-2016;  
Levels and Normalized Data to 1983 

  CCI BCI CCI (Normalized) BCI (Normalized) 

1983 5063.9 2586.6 100.0 100.0 

1984 5259.9 2726.4 103.9 105.4 

1985 5446.7 2664.6 107.6 103.0 

1986 5452.2 2762.6 107.7 106.8 

1987 5474.1 2816.5 108.1 108.9 

1988 5770.8 2851.7 114.0 110.2 

1989 5789.8 2855.3 114.3 110.4 

1990 5994.6 3020.5 118.4 116.8 

1991 6090.1 3097.8 120.3 119.8 

1992 6348.6 3198.7 125.4 123.7 

1993 6477.8 3334.4 127.9 128.9 

1994 6533.0 3420.4 129.0 132.2 

1995 6526.2 3427.3 128.9 132.5 

1996 6558.4 3426.7 129.5 132.5 

1997 6663.6 3560.5 131.6 137.7 

1998 6852.0 3617.0 135.3 139.8 

1999 6826.0 3591.0 134.8 138.8 

2000 7068.0 3680.3 139.6 142.3 

2001 7226.9 3694.2 142.7 142.8 

2002 7402.8 3787.8 146.2 146.4 

2003 7531.8 3847.3 148.7 148.7 

2004 8192.1 4155.2 161.8 160.6 

2005 8346.9 4274.2 164.8 165.2 

2006 8640.5 4489.9 170.6 173.6 

2007 8979.1 4744.4 177.3 183.4 

2008 9410.6 4950.4 185.8 191.4 

2009 9779.4 5076.3 193.1 196.3 

2010 9906.0 5182.7 195.6 200.4 

2011 10057.0 5379.8 198.6 208.0 

2012 10258.7 5493.8 202.6 212.4 

2013 10454.6 5553.8 206.5 214.7 

2014 10740.0 5671.1 212.1 219.3 

2015 11075.6 5762.0 218.7 222.8 

2016 11247.8 5907.1 222.1 228.4 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release 



38 

 

Appendix Table A-3: Regression of California Department of Transportation Construction Cost Index 
(CCI) on California Building Permits, California Employment, California Total Annual Wages and 
California Population; Levels and Changes Models  
 

Dependent Variable = California Department of Transportation Construction Cost Index  
(1983-2016) 

 Levels Model Changes Model 

Caltrans CCI Coefficient t-statistic Coefficient t-statistic 

CCIt-1 0.5790417 1.83 1.112234 5.43 

CCIt-2 -0.2159114 -0.72 0.054816 0.27 

California Building Permits (BP) 2.28e-06 0.03 7.56E-05 1.75 

BPt-1 0.0000436 0.53 0.000079 1.75 

BPt-2 0.000063 0.94 -5.29E-06 -0.12 

California Employment (EMP) -3.34e-06 -0.33 0.000012 1.55 

EMPt-1 -0.0000108 -0.91 2.26E-06 0.26 

EMPt-2 3.66e-06 0.40 6.09E-06 0.75 

California Total Annual Wages 1.34e-10 1.20 2.65E-11 0.29 

WAGEt-1 7.32e-11 0.52 1.08E-10 1.27 

WAGEt-2 -1.33e-10 -1.27 -2.33E-10 -2.23 

California Population (POP) -0.0000203 -1.08 -2.4E-05 -1.67 

POPt-1 0.0000227 0.84 -7.52E-06 -0.50 

POPt-2 1.78e-06 0.10 4.38E-05 3.55 

_Cons 5.415306 0.04 -14.1453 -1.88 

 

Sample Size: 31 30 

R-Squared: 0.9719 0.9795 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



39 

 

Appendix Table A-4: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI) and Building Cost Index 
(BCI) Regressed on Building Permits, Employment, Total Annual Wages, and Population, Los Angeles 
Metropolitan Area; Levels and Changes Models 
 

Dependent Variable = Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index and Building Cost Index 
 (1983-2016)  

 Coefficient 
 ENR CCI Levels ENR CCI Changes ENR BCI Levels ENR BCI Changes 

CCI ENRt-1 / BCI ENRt-1 0.4785932 0.8609058 0.2031473 0.9382157 
CCI ENRt-2 / BCI ENRt-2 0.2711119 0.1763995 0.3854375 0.0771721 

LAMSA Bldg Permits (BP_LA) 0.0004867 0.0006004 -0.0018291 -0.0002938 
BP_LAt-1 -0.0021584 -0.0008503 0.001916 0.0007705 
BP_LAt-2 - 0.0021532 - 0.0012561 

LA MSA Employment (EMP) -0.0003014 -0.0004747 -0.0002912 -0.000429 
EMPt-1 -0.0001717 -0.0004079 -0.000387 -0.0001544 
EMPt-2 0.0002593 -0.0001594 0.0001608 -0.0002407 

LA MSA Total Wages 5.76e-09 6.12e-09 4.14e-09 5.75e-09 
WAGEt-1 7.02e-09 8.87e-09 7.22e-09 3.77e-09 
WAGEt-2 -4.76e-09 6.85e-09 -3.22e-09 2.95e-09 

LA MSA Population (POP) 0.0000273 0.0000507 0.0000499 0.0000524 
POPt-1 -0.0000583 -0.0000105 -0.0000185 -6.58e-06 
POPt-2 -0.0000624 0.0000247 -0.0000483 0.000013 
_Cons 3099.81 -211.7501 3302.414 -25.03666 

 

Sample Size: 31 30 31 30 
R-Squared: 0.9974 0.9965 0.9982 0.9967 

 
 t-statistics (corresponding to above coefficients) 
 ENR CCI Levels ENR CCI Changes ENR BCI Levels ENR BCI Changes 

CCI ENRt-1 / BCI ENRt-1 2.06 3.49 0.73 2.95 
CCI ENRt-2 / BCI ENRt-2 1.25 0.69 1.89 0.23 

LAMSA Bldg Permits (BP_LA) 0.22 0.29 -1.50 -0.22 
BP_LAt-1 -0.79 -0.35 1.47 0.61 
BP_LAt-2 - 0.91 - 0.94 

LA MSA Employment (EMP) -0.58 -0.94 -1.21 -1.58 
EMPt-1 -0.27 -0.69 -1.25 -0.45 
EMPt-2 0.73 -0.40 0.95 -1.10 

LA MSA Total Wages 0.87 0.84 1.41 1.47 
WAGEt-1 0.74 1.06 1.52 0.78 
WAGEt-2 -0.75 0.97 -1.07 0.76 

LA MSA Population (POP) 0.43 0.83 1.66 1.57 
POPt-1 -0.83 -0.15 -0.54 -0.17 
POPt-2 -0.98 0.38 -1.48 0.38 
_Cons 1.49 -1.33 2.86 -0.30 

Note:  “—” indicates variable dropped due to collinearity 
 



40 

 

Appendix Table A-5: California Unemployment Rate Forecasts from California Legislative Analyst’s 
Office, California Department of Finance and California Department of Transportation, 2017-2022 
 

California Unemployment Rate Forecasts (2017-2022) 

  2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

California Legislative Analyst’s Office19 5.3% 5.2% - - - - 

California Department of Finance20 5.1% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% - - 

California Department of Transportation21 4.9% 5.0% 5.0% 5.1% 5.0% 5.0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
19 http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2016/3507/Fiscal-outlook-111616.pdf  
20 http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Economics/Eco_Forecasts_Us_Ca/index.html   
21 http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/offices/eab/index_files/2016/FullReport2016.pdf  

http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2016/3507/Fiscal-outlook-111616.pdf
http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Economics/Eco_Forecasts_Us_Ca/index.html
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/offices/eab/index_files/2016/FullReport2016.pdf


41 

 

Appendix Figure A-1: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), Building Cost Index (BCI) 
and Los Angeles Metropolitan Statistical Area Building Permits (1983-2016); Normalized to 1983 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 
Building Cost Index (BCI) and Los Angeles MSA 

Building Permits, 1983-2016

CCI BCI Building Permits (LA MSA)



42 

 

Appendix Figure A-2: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), Building Cost Index (BCI) 
and Los Angeles Metropolitan Statistical Area Population (1983-2016); Normalized to 1983 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release, U.S. Census Bureau 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 
Building Cost Index (BCI) and Los Angeles MSA 

Population, 1983-2016

CCI BCI Population (LA MSA)



43 

 

Appendix Figure A-3: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), Building Cost Index (BCI) 
and Los Angeles Metropolitan Statistical Area Employment (1983-2016); Normalized to 1983 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release, California Employment Development Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 
Building Cost Index (BCI) and Los Angeles MSA 

Employment, 1983-2016

CCI BCI Employment (LA MSA)



44 

 

Appendix Figure A-4: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), Building Cost Index (BCI) 
and Los Angeles Metropolitan Statistical Area Total Annual Wages (1983-2016); Normalized to 1983 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release, California Employment Development Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 
Building Cost Index (BCI) and Los Angeles MSA 

Total Annual Wages, 1983-2016

CCI BCI Total Annual Payroll (LA MSA)



45 

 

Appendix Figure A-5: Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), Building Cost Index (BCI) 
and Los Angeles Metropolitan Statistical Area Per Capita Personal Income (1983-2016); Normalized to 
1983 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record Monthly Release, U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 
  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (CCI), 
Building Cost Index (BCI) and Los Angeles MSA 

Per Capita Personal Income, 1983-2016

CCI BCI Per Capita Personal Income (LA MSA)



46 

 

Appendix Figure A6: Roadway Excavation Costs versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 
= 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
Appendix Figure A7: Aggregate Base Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Roadway Excavation v. Building Permits (CA)

Roadway Excavation Building Permits (CA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Aggregate Base v. Building Permits (CA)

Aggregate Base Building Permits (CA)



47 

 

Appendix Figure A8: Asphalt Concrete Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
Appendix Figure A9: PCC Pavement Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Asphalt Concrete Pavement v. Building Permits (CA)

Asphalt Concrete Pavement Building Permits (CA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

PCC Pavement v. Building Permits (CA)

PCC Pavement Building Permits (CA)



48 

 

Appendix Figure A10: Class A PCC Structure Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 
= 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
Appendix Figure A11: Bar Reinforcing Steel Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 
= 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Class A PCC Structure v. Building Permits (CA)

Class A PCC Structure Building Permits (CA)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Bar Reinforcing Steel v. Building Permits (CA)

Bar Reinforcing Steel Building Permits (CA)



49 

 

Appendix Figure A12: Structural Steel Cost versus California Building Permits, Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: California Department of Transportation, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
 
Appendix Figure A13: Asphalt Cost (average) versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Structural Steel v. Building Permits (CA)

Structural Steel Building Permits (CA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Asphalt Average v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Asphalt Average Building Permits (LA MSA)



50 

 

Appendix Figure A14: Portland Cement Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
Appendix Figure A15: Gravel (>3/4 inch) Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Portland Cement v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Portland Cement Building Permits (LA MSA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Gravel (>3/4 Inch) v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Gravel (>3/4 Inch) Building Permits (LA MSA)



51 

 

Appendix Figure A16: Gravel (<3/4 inch) Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
 
Appendix Figure A17: Crushed Stone Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Gravel (<3/4 Inch) v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Gravel (<3/4 inch) Building Permits (LA MSA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Crushed Stone v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Crushed Stone Building Permits (LA MSA)



52 

 

Appendix Figure A18: Sand Concrete Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau 

 
 
 
Appendix Figure A19: Std. Structural Steel Shapes Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building 
Permits, Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Sand Concrete v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Sand Concrete Building Permits (LA MSA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Std. Structural Steel Shapes v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Std. Structural Shapes Building Permits (LA MSA)



53 

 

Appendix Figure A20: I-Beam Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, Normalized 
to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 
Appendix Figure A21: Reinforcing Bars Cost versus Los Angeles Metropolitan Area Building Permits, 
Normalized to 1983 = 100 
 

 
Source: Engineering News Record, U.S. Census Bureau Building Permit Survey 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

I-Beams v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

I-Beams Building Permits (LA MSA)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Reinforcing Bars v. Building Permits (LA MSA)

Reinforcing Bars Building Permits (LA MSA)



ATTACHMENT B 
 

1 
 

Risk Factors, Effect on Public Works Costs, and Some Possible OCTA Mitigations 
 

Risk Factor Impact on Costs Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Sustained low 
unemployment 

Increases costs 
beyond Table 5 
model prediction 

Likely in the next  
2 to 5 years 

Wage pressure is 
still low, suggests 
that the economy 
has continued 
room to expand 
without 
necessitating policy 
efforts (i.e. interest 
rate increases) that 
would induce a 
recession 

Accelerate the next  
2 to 3 years of the  
Next 10 Plan 
 
Increase the supply of 
contractors 
 

Increased 
Building 
Permitting (and 
hence residential 
construction) 

Increases costs Unlikely given  
long-term political 
factors, but 
regulatory change 
could be sudden 

Increasing 
permitting depends 
in part on state or 
local political 
changes, but Inland 
Empire 
construction has 
been increasing 
rapidly 

Accelerate next  
2 to 3 years of the  
Next 10 Plan 
 
Labor force training to 
increase supply of skilled 
construction labor 

Continued 
Consolidation in 
Construction and 
Architecture/Engi
neering Industry 

Increases costs in 
near-term, then 
pressure for costs to 
remain high 

Likely, given recent 
consolidation 
trends 

The industry has 
been consolidating.  
Unclear whether 
that trend has 
played out or will 
continue. 

OCTA becomes a 
preferred client 
 
Reduce barriers to new 
entrants into OCTA bid 
process 
 
Innovate in ease of doing 
business with OCTA 

Interest Rate 
Increases 

Short-term cost 
increases as 
financing costs, for 
OCTA and 
contractors, 
increase – long-term 
downward cost 
pressure if recession 
ensues 

Highly likely to 
have moderate 
interest rate 
increases in next  
2 to 5 years 

U.S. is near 
historically low 
interest rates; 
global savings glut 
will exert 
downward 
pressure on 
interest rates; on 
net, rate increases 
likely to be 
moderate and 
sustained 

Complete financing 
agreements in the  
near-term to avoid 
higher interest rates 



2 
 

Risk Factor Impact on Costs Likelihood Comments Possible OCTA 
Mitigations 

Neighboring 
County 
Transportation 
Programs Exert 
Cost Pressure 

Increases Costs Highly Likely; 
current work 
programs in 
neighboring 
counties meet or 
exceed level in 
Orange County 

Recent self-help 
sales tax increases 
“lock in” sustained 
demand for public 
works contractors 
in Southern 
California 

OCTA becomes a client 
of choice 
 
Simplify the bid process 
and process of doing 
business with OCTA 
 
Accelerate Next 10 Plan 
to lock in prices before 
peak market pressure 
from neighboring 
counties 

Increasing 
Construction 
Wage Pressure 

Increases Costs Likely in 
foreseeable future, 
unless residential 
market reverses 
course (which 
would likely 
coincide with a 
recession) 

Construction wages 
increases by from 
4.39 to 5.3 percent 
annually, 2014 to 
2016, in Orange 
and neighboring 
SCAG region 
counties 

Accelerate Next 10 Plan 
in advance of additional 
increases in construction 
wages 
 
Support efforts to 
increase the pool of 
construction labor 

Recession Decreases Costs Likely within the 
next 10 years, but 
timing highly 
uncertain 

Recession will 
reduce demand for 
private sector 
residential and 
commercial 
construction, but 
public sector 
demand will remain 
although sales tax 
revenues will drop 
in a recession 

Timing uncertainty 
makes mitigation 
measures, beyond those 
listed above, difficult to 
implement 

OCTA – Orange County Transportation Authority 
SCAG – Southern California Association of Governments 
 


	CAC_10.17.17 Agenda
	7.18.17 FINAL CAC Minutes
	CAC FY 17-18 Attendance Report
	Transmittal (21)
	Staff Report (31)
	Attachment A (28)
	Attachment B (23)

